Assessing the effects of non-native salmonids on Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) in Alberta's Rocky Mountain Foothills

by Jacqueline L. Pallard

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Conservation Biology

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Jacqueline L. Pallard, 2022

Abstract

The rapid decline in global biodiversity threatens the natural resources, food security, health, and livelihoods of current and future generations. Anthropogenic activities, including the introduction of non-native species, habitat fragmentation and alteration, and resource extraction, have exacerbated this decline. One such imperiled species are Bull Trout (Salvelinus confluentus), which have exhibited significant declines throughout their range and are expected to decline by >30% over the next 21 years in Alberta. While their decline is attributed to a myriad of threats, the degree to which non-native fishes contribute to their decline is uncertain. The objective of my thesis was to investigate the effects of Brook Trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) and Brown Trout (Salmo trutta), two non-native salmonids, on the habitat use and dietary niche of Bull Trout. To address the habitat component, I developed a multi-species N-mixture model using in-stream and land use derived characteristics to assess how Brook Trout and Brown Trout affect Bull Trout abundance in relation to habitat factors. I determined that Brook Trout negatively affect Bull Trout abundance when streams are <11°C and lack habitat complexity. Interactions between Brown Trout and Bull Trout are less certain, but larger, lower elevation streams are likely to see reductions in Bull Trout abundance where Brown Trout invasion is present and likely to occur. To address the dietary component, I employed stable isotope analysis to investigate how Brook Trout and Brown Trout interact with the dietary niche of Bull Trout. I determined that Bull Trout in sympatry with both Brook Trout and Brown Trout undergo a niche shift and are displaced from terrestrial-based resources. Furthermore, potential for competitive exclusion exists when resources are low given all species exhibit a high degree of niche overlap (>80%) when in sympatry and the amount of niche overlap does not decrease between allopatry and sympatry. The findings of my thesis suggest that both Brook Trout and Brown Trout

ii

interfere with the resource use of Bull Trout, on multiple levels, and provides practical guidelines for limiting future declines.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Jacqueline L. Pallard.

Ethics approval for this research project, for which this thesis is a part, was received from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Animal Care and Use Committee "Assessing food web dynamics and niche overlap between Bull Trout and invasive species" AUP00003132_AME2, provincial Fish Research Licenses (20-2208 & 21-2207), and federal Species at Risk Act Permits (20-PCAA-00026 & 21-PCAA-00031).

Acknowledgements

This research was made possible by West Fraser Timber Co. Ltd. through the Mitcas Accelerate Program with supporting funding provided by the University of Alberta. Specifically at West Fraser, a big thank you to Kelsey Kure for situating me in the foothills, always sharing your knowledge and favourite fishing holes, and your continued support and guidance throughout my studies. You always knew where to find the fish we were looking for and we would have taken way more wrong turns on the trails without you. Thank you to Alberta Environment and Parks for sampling Rocky and Cutoff, this saved us an immense amount of time and was greatly appreciated.

Thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Mark Poesch, for providing me with this opportunity, trusting me to achieve our goals, and helping me grow academically and professionally. Thank you to Dr. Tim Jardine for joining my supervisory committee, providing consistent feedback throughout, and kindly and patiently guiding me through the realm of stable isotopes. Allan Harms, thank you for the countless hours you devoted to running my stable isotope samples and generously helping when the equipment was temperamental. To everyone on the statistical forums, particularly Mike Meredith, thank you for answering the questions of a graduate student who you had absolutely no ties to. Thank you to Cordelius Lasse Hultberg for all your invertebrate identification and your project on beta diversity.

A big shout out to all my lab members, Megan, Chloe, Macs, Sebastian, Victoria, and Karling for your continued support, laughs, empathy, and extensive knowledge. Your support was vital to keeping me sane and motivated when plans and restrictions were constantly changing; I wouldn't be here without you all. Thank you to Matthew Cunningham and Auguste de Pennart for all the amazing field work you did. Even when the path was tough and the bullies were rare, we always managed to have some amazing laughs and I could not have asked better partners in the field. Thank you to my friends and family for your continued support throughout my studies and bringing me up when I was feeling low. Alex, Trish, and Paige, I am so grateful to have joined your Edmonton bubble, for all the adventures we've shared, and for your friendships that I truly cherish. Lastly, thank you to my partner Matt for always being my personal cheerleader; I admire your selflessness and golden personality and am grateful for all that you do.

Table of Contents

Abstract ii
Prefaceiv
Acknowledgementsv
Table of Contents vi
List of Tables
List of Figures ix
Chapter I: General Introduction
Chapter II: Are Brook Trout (<i>Salvelinus fontinalis</i>) and Brown Trout (<i>Salmo trutta</i>), displacing Bull Trout (<i>Salvelinus confluentus</i>) in Alberta's foothills?
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Methods
2.2.1 Study area and design
2.2.2 Data collection
2.2.3 Geospatial covariates
2.2.4 Statistical analysis
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Local habitat & spatial covariate results11
2.3.2 NMDS ordination results
2.3.3 Single species N-mixture model results
2.3.4 Multi species N-mixture model results
2.4 Discussion
2.5 Figures & Tables
Chapter III: Evidence for an isotopic niche shift of Bull Trout <i>(Salvelinus confluentus)</i> and competitive exclusion when in sympatry with Brook Trout <i>(Salvelinus fontinalis)</i> and Brown Trout <i>(Salmo trutta)</i>
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Methods
3.2.1 Study area and design
3.2.2 Field methods
3.2.3 Laboratory methods
3.2.4 Data processing
3.2.5 Baseline corrections

3.2.6 Trophic position and proportion of terrestrial carbon	29
3.2.7 Standard ellipses area and niche overlap	29
3.3 Results	30
3.3.1 Data processing	30
3.3.2 Trophic position & terrestrial Carbon	30
3.3.3 Standard ellipses area and niche overlap	31
3.4 Discussion	31
3.5 Figures & Tables	35
Chapter IV: General Conclusions	44
Literature Cited	47
Appendices	76

List of Tables

Table 2.1 – Mean values of recorded habitat covariates for each waterbody. Waterbodies areNorth Burnt Timber (BT), Cutoff (CT), Elk (EK), Fallentimber (FT), Pineneedle (PN), Rough(RG), Teepee Pole (TP), Trout (TR), Wilson (WS), Wildhorse (WH), and Yara (YR)
Table 2.2 - Habitat covariates utilized in the analysis and those retained after the non-metricmultidimensional scaling (NMDS) and final model selection. $Pr(>r)$ is the significance level ofthe multiple regression covariate with alpha levels of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01, and <0.001 (., *, **, ***).20
Table 2.3 - Model selection results for the single species N-mixture models. Only models with<5 corrected Akaike information criterion ($\Delta AICc$) values are shown.21
Table 2.4 – Significant habitat covariates (predictors) and their relationship (posterior mean)with the abundance and detection of each species in the final multispecies N-mixture model. TheBull Trout abundance model is separated into three components: allopatry (AllopatricAbundance), sympatry with Brook Trout (Abundance with BKTR), and sympatry with BrownTrout (Abundance with BNTR). The posterior standard deviation (posterior SD) and the 95%credible intervals (CrI) of each predictor is noted.22
Table 3.1 – Means and standard deviation of raw δ 13C and δ 15N values for Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), Brown Trout (BNTR), aquatic invertebrates (Collectors, Filterers, Scrapers, and Shredders), and terrestrial invertebrates (Terrestrial). Streams are separated by the invasion levels of Bull Trout dominant (BLTR), Brown Trout dominant (BNTR), Brook Trout dominant (BKTR), Bull Trout / Brook Trout mix (BLTR/BKTR), and Bull Trout / Brook Trout / Brown Trout mix (BLTR/BKTR)
Table 3.2 – Trophic position (TP), terrestrial-based carbon (1- α), and standard ellipses area (SEA _B) of Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), Brown Trout (BNTR), and all species together (ALL) by stream. Averages for each species within invasion levels are bolded and significant differences (p-value < 0.001) between invasion levels for each species noted with a *.
Table 3.3 – Mean isotopic niche overlap between Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), and Brown Trout (BNTR) with 95% confidence intervals. Means represent the probability that a species from the column will be found in the isotopic niche of a species in the row. Percent overlap is separated by allopatric streams, Bull Trout / Brook Trout streams (BLTR / BKTR), Bull Trout / Brook Trout / Brown Trout streams (BLTR / BKTR / BNTR), and overlap within all streams (Total overlap)
Table A2.1 – Hypothesized relationships between habitat covariates and Bull Trout abundancedenoted by positive (+) and negative (-) signs. Superscripts denote relationships we expected tobe influenced by Brook Trout (K) and Brown Trout (N) presence.76

List of Figures

Figure 3.6 – Isotopic niche overlap between allopatric Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), and Brown Trout (BNTR). Figure 5a shows the mean posterior probability (solid line) and the 95% confidence intervals (dotted line) of an individual species from the row being found within the niche of the species in the column. Figure 5b shows the standard ellipse area of the

core niche (40% confidence interval – solid lines) and the realized niche (95% confidence interval – dotted lines) of Brook Trout (yellow), Bull Trout (purple), and Brown Trout (blue).. 40

Chapter I: General Introduction

The rapid decline in global biodiversity has provoked the current biodiversity crisis, which threatens the natural resources, food security, health, and livelihoods of current and future generations (Costanza et al., 1997; Mannion, 1995; Singh, 2002). This crisis is driven in part by climate change (Bellard et al., 2012; Mantyka-Pringle et al., 2015; Poesch et al., 2016; Rosales, 2008), making the call for bold, transformative action to address these crises extremely urgent. Anthropogenic activities, including the introduction of non-native species, habitat fragmentation and alteration, and resource use, are exacerbating these crises and changing our environment at a rapid rate (Bellard et al., 2012; Pimm et al., 1995; Sala et al., 2000). Consequently, biodiversity is decreasing globally with loss in freshwater systems exceeding the rate of decline in terrestrial ecosystems (Sala et al., 2000). Between 1970 and 2012, freshwater vertebrates declined by 81% (McRae et al., 2017) and are projected to decline by an additional 4% per decade (Ricciardi & Rasmussen, 1999). Salmonids, which are highly sensitive to temperature and flow regimes (Beer & Anderson, 2011; Buisson et al., 2008; Crozier et al., 2008; Pörtner & Farrell, 2008), are at a heightened risk of extirpation and thus their need for conservation is mounting.

Salmonid species require cold, connected, clean, and complex habitat and therefore are indicators for overall ecological functioning and health (Crisp, 2008). With their diverse life cycle, they inextricably link our freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems, facilitate nutrient flow, and are vital food sources for people and wildlife (Gende et al., 2002; Holtgrieve & Schindler, 2011). This is evident in systems where salmonid populations are thriving, resulting in bear densities that are up to twenty times greater (Reimchen, 2000) and increased scavenger bird abundance (Field & Reynolds, 2013). Subsequently, as predators, salmonids function as top-down control in aquatic ecosystems and their presence is vital to sustaining functioning aquatic food webs and ecosystems (Hammerschlag et al., 2019).

Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*), a salmonid species native to Western Canada and the Pacific Northwest of the United States, are listed as a species at risk in Canada and the United States and have experienced significant declines in recent decades (COSEWIC, 2012; US Fish and Wildlife Service, 1999). While they can reside from the Pacific Ocean to central Alberta, they are typically restricted to the interior (Haas & McPhail, 1991) with 80% of their global range within western Canada (Rieman et al., 1997). Given their geographical range, Bull Trout have diverse traits and four distinct life histories (McPhail & Baxter, 1996), all of which require returning to headwater or tributary streams in the fall to spawn when stream temperatures are between 5-9°C (Stewart et al., 2007). Given their extensive range, cold spawning temperature requirement, an upper thermal tolerance of 21°C, and an optimal growth temperature of 12-16°C (McMahon et al., 2007; Selong et al., 2001; Stewart et al., 2007), Bull Trout are

extremely vulnerable to climatic and environmental changes. In Canada, where there are five recognized Designatable Units of Bull Trout, two are assessed as Special Concern and one as Threatened, the Saskatchewan - Nelson Rivers population (COSEWIC, 2012).

Alberta's Saskatchewan - Nelson Rivers population of Bull Trout extended as far east as Edmonton in the North Saskatchewan River; however, their range is contracting with many downstream populations extirpated (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020; Sinnatamby et al., 2020). It is expected that over the next 21 years, Bull Trout in Alberta will decline by >30% (COSEWIC, 2012; Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020). Their decline in Alberta is largely attributed to habitat fragmentation and alteration, exploitation, and competition with non-native salmonids such as Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and Brown Trout (*Salmo trutta*) (COSEWIC, 2012; Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020; M. Rodtka et al., 2009; Sawatzky & Secretariat, 2016). While angling pressure has decreased since 1995, when mandatory catch and release of the species was implemented in Alberta (Sinnatamby et al., 2020), Bull Trout populations continue to decline likely due to the cumulative effect of these threats.

Brook Trout and Brown Trout, two salmonid species native to eastern North America and Europe respectively, were both introduced to Alberta in the early 1900s to improve recreational fishing for arriving European and eastern Canadian settlers (Colpitts, 1997). Since their introduction, both Brook Trout and Brown Trout have established self-sustaining populations and are considered a naturalized species by Alberta Environment and Parks (COSEWIC, 2012). Like Bull Trout, both species are temperature sensitive (MacCrimmon & Campbell, 1969; Smialek et al., 2021), are opportunistic feeders (Lobón-Cerviá & Sanz, 2017; Raleigh, 1982), need in-stream cover (Raleigh, 1982), and use gravel substrate to spawn in the fall (Greeley, 1932). And while there is clear overlap between Bull Trout and these two non-native salmonids, there is conflicting evidence over whether their introduction is a primary cause of Bull Trout decline in Alberta.

Studies in the United States and Canada have identified Brook Trout as a threat to Bull Trout through hybridization (Kanda et al., 2002; Leary et al., 1993), dietary interspecific aggression (Gunckel et al., 2002; McMahon et al., 2007; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013b), and displacement (Paul & Post, 2001; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a). However, as displacement was negatively associated with elevation, positively associated with temperature, and highly spatially variable (Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a), it is not easy to differentiate whether Bull Trout are replaced or displaced (J. B. Dunham et al., 2002). While there is considerable evidence of the threats Brook Trout pose to Bull Trout in Canada, there is little research on the effects of Brown Trout when all three species are in sympatry. Yet, in Japan, where both Brook Trout and Brown Trout are introduced, Brown Trout have displaced populations of Whitespotted Charr *(Salvelinus leucomaenis)* and Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*), a close relative of Bull Trout (Hasegawa, 2017; Hasegawa et al., 2004; Hasegawa & Maekawa,

2006; Kitano, 2004; Takami et al., 2002), and are globally recognized as one of the world's top 100 invasive alien species (Lowe et al., 2000).

The overall objective of my thesis was to assess the interactive effects of Brook Trout and Brown Trout on Bull Trout populations where all three species co-exist. In the first chapter, my objective was to determine the in-stream and land use characteristics that best predict Bull Trout abundance when in allopatry and sympatry with Brook Trout and Brown Trout and then see if Brook Trout and Brown Trout have similar habitat preferences that may allude to competition for resources. To do so, I gathered data through electrofishing surveys, habitat surveys, geospatial data, and employed a multi-species N-mixture model that accounts for spatial variance in abundance, overdispersion in count data, imperfect detection, and directional interactions between species. In the second chapter, my objective was to assess how Brook Trout and Brown Trout interact with the dietary niche of Bull Trout. To do so, I assessed the food web dynamics of various streams at five different levels of invasion: (1) Bull Trout dominant, (2) Brook Trout dominant, (3) Brown Trout dominant, (4) Brook Trout and Bull Trout mix, and (5) Bull Trout, Brook Trout, and Brown Trout mix. I then used stable isotope analysis to determine two standard metrics, trophic position, and proportion of terrestrial carbon, and Bayesian analysis to determine the niche width and niche overlap of the three salmonid species. Collectively, this work helps decipher the extent to which Brook Trout and Brown Trout are contributing to Bull Trout declines in Alberta.

Chapter II: Are Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and Brown Trout (*Salmo trutta*), displacing Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) in Alberta's foothills?

2.1 Introduction

Freshwater biodiversity is undergoing rapid decline from a large number of threats, including climate change, anthropogenic development, infectious diseases, and harmful algal blooms (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Reid et al., 2019). One of the other major threats to freshwater biodiversity is the spread of invasive species (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Gallardo et al., 2016; Moyle & Light, 1996; Reid et al., 2019; Strayer, 2010). Invasive species are species that are not found in their introduced location and cause ecological or economic harm (Mack et al., 2000). Whether released intentionally for recreational fishing (i.e., stocking), to help fight other problem species (i.e. biological control), or accidentally (e.g. bait fish, pet release), the movement of invasive species has altered local flora and fauna globally (Levine & D'Antonio, 2003; Perrings et al., 2005).

Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and Brown Trout (*Salmo trutta*), once only native to eastern North America and Europe respectively, are globally introduced and are some of the most pervasive invasive species (Elliott, 1994; Welcomme, 1988). Both species are widely sought after by recreational anglers, which has enhanced their spread through stocking programs to supply anglers with more opportunities (Donald, 1987; MacCrimmon & Campbell, 1969). However, some of the characteristics that make them sought after by anglers (i.e., fast growing and reach maturation quickly), also make them prolific reproducers and strong competitors with native fishes (Dunham et al., 2002; Lobón-Cerviá & Sanz, 2017; Raleigh, 1982). Globally, Brook Trout have displaced Cutthroat Trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii*) in North America and pose threats to native charr through hybridization (Adams et al., 2000; J. B. Dunham et al., 2002; Fukui et al., 2021; Kitano et al., 2014; Lobón-Cerviá & Sanz, 2017; Raleigh, 1982). Similarly, Brown Trout have displaced native Brook Trout in eastern United States (Fausch & White, 1981; Waters, 1983), White-spotted Char (*Salvelinus leucomaenis*) and Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*) in Japan (Kitano, 2004; Takami et al., 2002), and pose threats to native fish in many other countries (McDowall et al., 2001; Pascual et al., 2007; Townsend, 1996).

Since Brook Trout and Brown Trout were introduced to western North America both species have established self-sustaining populations and impacted native Bull Trout (*Salvelinus*

confluentus) populations (Fausch & White, 1981; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a). Bull Trout, a salmonid species native to Western Canada and the Pacific Northwest of the United States, are a Threatened species in Alberta (Post & Gow, 2012). They are one of the most thermally sensitive salmonids and are geographically limited by this (Kovach et al., 2019; Selong et al., 2001). Although they are limited to cold water streams, they occupy diverse habitats within them depending on their life history and maturity (Haas & McPhail, 1991; McPhail & Baxter, 1996; Rieman et al., 1997). Through interaction with several impacts, including habitat fragmentation and alteration, exploitation, and competition with non-native fishes, many of Alberta's downstream populations are already extirpated (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020; Post & Gow, 2012; Rodtka et al., 2009; Sawatzky & Secretariat, 2016; Sinnatamby et al., 2020).

Although non-native fishes are recognized as threat to Bull Trout populations, how they affect Bull Trout habitat use is unclear. While Brook Trout invasion success appears to generally decrease with elevation and increase with temperature (Paul & Post, 2001; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a), this result is highly variable between streams, and laboratory studies assessing the effects of temperature on competitive interactions do not fully support this (McMahon et al., 2007; Rieman et al., 2006; Rodtka & Volpe, 2007). To reconcile these conflicting results, many studies have investigated how stream structure affects invasion success. These studies found that streams of smaller size, with lower in-stream cover, smaller substrate, and slower flows increase Brook Trout invasion success (Benjamin et al., 2007; Rich et al., 2003; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a; Wenger et al., 2011). Similarly, Brown Trout invasion success is positively associated with temperature. However, it is thought that Brown Trout colonize streams where Bull Trout have already been extirpated as a result of rising stream temperature (Al-Chokhachy et al., 2016). Other studies investigating the invasion success of Brown Trout found that high spring flow, in-stream barriers, smaller streams, and anchor ice limit their upstream invasion success in North America (Bozek & Hubert, 1992; Kirk et al., 2018; Meredith et al., 2017; Wood & Budy, 2009). However, there is no research on how stream structure or landscape effects influence Brown Trout invasion success in Alberta specifically.

The aim of this study is to disentangle whether Brook Trout and Brown Trout are spatially displacing or replacing Bull Trout in Alberta's foothills. Hereafter, we refer to displacement as the local extirpation of a native species due a non-native species. We refer to

replacement as the local extirpation of the native species, irrespective of non-native species, followed by local colonization by a non-native species. Our objectives were to (1) develop a multi-species N-mixture model using in-stream and land use derived characteristics to predict Bull Trout abundance when in allopatry and sympatry with Brook Trout and Brown Trout (2) compare the allopatric and sympatric sub-models to identify key characteristics to help guide management efforts. Based on past studies assessing the factors associated with invasion success of Brook Trout and Brown Trout mentioned previously, we hypothesized that the relationship between Bull Trout abundance and individual habitat covariates will depend on whether they are allopatric or sympatric (Appendix A). Specifically, we predict that elevation, stream temperature, wetted width, proportion of pool, proportion of boulder, and large woody debris count will significantly affect allopatric Bull Trout abundance (Al-Chokhachy et al., 2016, p.; Bonneau & Scarnecchia, 1998; Post & Gow, 2012; Rich et al., 2003; Selong et al., 2001; Watson & Hillman, 1997). We predict that sympatric Bull Trout abundance will benefit in streams of higher elevation, with colder temperatures, higher large woody debris count, and higher proportions of pool and boulder (Al-Chokhachy et al., 2016; Bozek & Hubert, 1992; Kirk et al., 2018; Paul & Post, 2001; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a; Wood & Budy, 2009).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study area and design

Our study area is located within the Saskatchewan - Nelson Rivers, where Bull Trout is listed as a Threatened species (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020). We selected headwater streams to the Red Deer River and North Saskatchewan River within the range of Bull based on historical electrofishing records (Alberta Environment and Parks, 2022) and local knowledge (K. Kure, personal communication, 2020) to encompass various levels of invasion of Brook Trout and Brown Trout (Figure 2.1). The 12 waterbodies include Yara Creek, Wildhorse Creek, North Burnt Timber Creek, Wilson Creek, Pineneedle Creek, Rocky Creek, Cutoff Creek, Elk Creek, Trout Creek, Rough Creek, Teepee Pole Creek, and Fallentimber Creek.

2.2.2 Data collection

We sampled a total of 44 sites within 12 streams between July and August of 2020 and 2021. Following Alberta's small stream protocol, we divided each site into six 50m transects for a total

linear distance of 300m (Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, 2013). Employing a systematic sampling design, we sampled downstream to upstream using a Smith-Root LR24 backpack unit. Fish were identified, weighed to the nearest gram, and measured for both fork length and total length to the nearest mm. All fish that were not retained we released at least 25m downstream of the start of the next electrofishing transect to avoid recapture and inflated count data.

Immediately following fish sampling, we conducted a habitat survey within each electrofishing transect (T1-T6). At the start of the site (T0) we measured water temperature (°C) and conductivity (uS/cm) using a Pro Plus Multiparameter probe (YSI, Yellow Springs, Ohio) and air temperature with a thermometer (°C). We measured depth, wetted width, and rooted width to the nearest cm using a meter stick and tape measure. Throughout each transect we visually estimated the proportion of pool, riffle, and run to the nearest percent for a total of 100% and the amount of canopy cover as low (<25%), medium (25-75%), or high (>75%) as per Rich et al. (2003). Using a modified Wentworth scale (Cummins, 1962) we visually estimated the amount of silt, sand, gravel, cobble, boulder, and bedrock to the nearest percent for a total of 100%. In stream large wood debris (those >3 m in length and >10 cm in diameter) were counted for the entire transect (Rich et al., 2003) and barriers visible within the transect we measured wetted width, rooted width, and depth (at 25%, 50%, and 75% of the wetted width) all to the nearest cm with a meter stick and tape measure.

2.2.3 Geospatial covariates

Six geospatial covariates (Table 2.2) were used in our analysis and obtained from geographic information system (GIS) layers. Mean August water temperature was obtained from the West Fraser Stream Temperature Model, which uses temperature data collected over six years and spatial variables to understand the spatial and temporal variability of thermal conditions (MacDonald, 2021). Riparian area was defined as the land with low lying shrubs and lack of stands that lies directly adjacent to a moving stream. Timber harvest area is the net land-base of merchantable timber, which does not include deletions like non forested land, stream buffers, muskeg, pipelines, and other features. Disturbed area includes all other areas disturbed by development (roads, pipelines, powerlines, well sites, and grazing allotments). We measured

elevation at T0 and distance to mainstem along the stream polygon from T0 of each site to the confluence of the next larger order stream. To control for spatial autocorrelation between sites within a stream, we ran a multi-ring buffer at 100m intervals from 100-500m around each site location. Using Moran's I, we determined the largest buffer ring that controlled for spatial autocorrelation of each geospatial covariate between sites. Then we clipped each layer to a 300m radius around each site, summarized, and exported to CSV. All analysis was run using ArcGIS Pro (Esri Inc., 2021).

2.2.4 Statistical analysis

i) Data preparation

There are many requirements for developing a N-mixture model. First, missing data needs to be removed and variables need to be scaled relative to one another (Kéry & Royle, 2016; Kéry & Schaub, 2012). To do this, sites with missing habitat observations were removed, depth for each transect was averaged, percentages were converted to proportions, and all continuous variables were scaled to a mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1. Second, variables need to be reduced to a reasonable number relative to the number of observations (Kéry & Royle, 2016). For this, we performed non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) to determine the covariates that contributed to the greatest amount of variation in fish abundance. After using a scree plot to determine the number of dimensions required, we used Bray-Curtis dissimilarity as it is a weighted metric and is preferred over unweighted metrics, like Jaccard dissimilarity, when analyzing abundance data (Schroeder & Jenkins, 2018). To reduce collinearity between the retained covariates and increase model parsimony, we calculated Pearson correlation coefficients and removed those with R^2 values ≥ 0.6 (Møller & Jennions, 2002). All analyses were performed using RStudio (RStudio Team, 2021) and the packages vegan (Oksanen et al., 2020) and Performance Analytics (Peterson & Carl, 2020). Akin to Miller et al. (2011) and Som et al. (2018), subsequent model selection proceeded in two steps. First, we fit single species N-mixture models using maximum likelihood estimations and second, we fit a multispecies static binomial N-mixture model.

ii) Single species N-mixture models

We first fit the single species N-mixture model of Royle (2004) for Bull Trout, Brook Trout, and Brown Trout individually using maximum likelihood estimation with the R package unmarked (Fiske & Chandler, 2021). N-mixture models are a class of hierarchical models that can quantify how abundance changes in response to covariates while also considering imperfect detection and spatial variance (Royle & Dorazio, 2008). A total of 10 habitat covariates were set as fixed effects and two habitat covariates, site and waterbody, were set as random effects to account for spatial autocorrelation in the global model. Holding abundance constant, we used the R package MuMIn (Barton, 2020) to carry out parallel computation to determine the best combination of detection covariates (Miller et al., 2011; Som et al., 2018). Models were ranked by AICc rather than unadjusted AIC due to the small number of observations relative to the number of covariates (Burnham & Anderson, 2002). Models that did not converge were removed from the comparison and the model with the lowest AICc was selected as the top model. We repeated these processes for abundance, holding detection constant. Covariates retained in the top detection and abundance models for each species were carried forward into the multispecies Nmixture model.

iii) Multispecies static binomial N-mixture model with directional interactions

Our multispecies static binomial N-mixture model is an extension of that developed by Kéry and Royle (2020), which adapted the models of Brodie et al. (2018), Clare et al. (2019), and Roth et al. (2016). While there are multi-species occupancy models that provide similar results (i.e., Rota et al., 2016), these models require large sample sizes and do not account for directional interactions between species (Kéry & Royle, 2016). The model uses a log-normal Poisson distribution with the addition of a zero-inflation parameter to account for overdispersion and sparse count data. We added site and waterbody as random effects to account for any residual spatial autocorrelation. For both Brook Trout (1) and Brown Trout (2), we specify two separate static binomial N-mixture models where abundance is a function of observation covariates (β_i) and detection ($p_{i,i}$) is a function of detection covariates (α_i).

(1)

$$\begin{aligned} z_{i}^{K} \sim Bernoulli(\omega^{K}) \\ N_{i}^{K} \mid zi \sim Poisson(z_{i}^{K} * \lambda^{K}) \\ C_{i,j}^{K} \sim Binomial(N_{i}^{K}, p_{i,j}^{K}) \\ \epsilon^{K} \sim normal(0, \tau^{K}) \\ log(\lambda_{i}^{K}) &= \beta_{0}^{K} + \beta_{1}^{K} * pool + \beta_{2}^{K} * riffle + \beta_{3}^{K} * depth + \beta_{4}^{K} * lwd + \epsilon^{K} \\ logit(p_{i,j}^{K}) &= \alpha_{0}^{K} + \alpha_{1}^{K} * wetwidth + \alpha_{2}^{K} * seconds \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &(2) \\ &z_{i}^{N} \sim Bernoulli (\omega^{N}) \\ &N_{i}^{N} \mid zi \sim Poisson (z_{i}^{N} * \lambda^{N}) \\ &C_{i,j}^{N} \sim Binomial (N_{i}^{N}, p_{i,j}^{N}) \\ &\epsilon^{N} \sim normal(0, \tau^{N}) \\ &\log (\lambda_{i}^{N}) = \beta_{0}^{N} + \beta_{1}^{N} * elev + \beta_{2}^{N} * depth + \beta_{3}^{N} * timber + \beta_{4}^{N} * riparian + \epsilon^{N} \\ &logit (p_{i,j}^{N}) = \alpha_{0}^{N} + \alpha_{1}^{N} * wetwidth + \alpha_{2}^{N} * seconds \end{aligned}$$

For Bull Trout (3), we specify another static binomial N-mixture model except now abundance (λ_i^L) is also contingent on the interaction effects of Brook Trout (γ_i^K) and Brown Trout (γ_i^N) abundance with the observation covariates (β_i) :

$$\begin{array}{l} (3) \\ z_{l}^{L} \sim Bernoulli (\omega^{L}) \\ N_{i}^{L} \mid zi \sim Poisson (z_{i}^{L} * \lambda^{L}) \\ C_{i,j}^{L} \sim Binomial (N_{i}^{L}, p_{i,j}^{L}) \\ \epsilon^{L} \sim normal(0, \tau^{L}) \\ \log(\lambda_{i}^{L}) = \beta_{0}^{L} + \beta_{1}^{L} * temp + \beta_{2}^{L} * pool + \beta_{3}^{L} * lwd + \beta_{4}^{L} * wetwidth + \gamma_{0}^{K} + \gamma_{1}^{K} \\ & * temp + \gamma_{2}^{K} * elev + \ldots + \gamma_{9}^{K} * wetwidth + \gamma_{0}^{N} + \gamma_{1}^{N} * temp + \gamma_{2}^{N} \\ & * elev + \ldots + \gamma_{9}^{N} * wetwidth + \epsilon^{L} \\ logit (p_{i,j}^{L}) = \alpha_{0}^{L} + \alpha_{1}^{L} * wetwidth + \alpha_{2}^{L} * seconds \end{array}$$

We ran the global model and subsequent reductions for 300,000 iterations, with 3 chains, a burn in of 20,000, and a thinning rate of 50 to reach convergence. Akin to Michel et al. (2016) model selection proceeded by sequentially removing covariates if the 95% credible intervals (CrI) of the posterior distribution included zero until the 95% CrI of all habitat covariates excluded zero. Model convergence was visually assessed using trace plots and mathematically using the Rhat statistic (Gelman et al., 2014). Goodness of fit of the final model was assessed using the Bayesian p-value (Kéry & Schaub, 2012). All models were written in the BUGS language and ran in JAGS (Plummer, 2017) through RStudio (RStudio Team, 2021) with the wrapper package jagsUI (Kellner, 2021).

2.3 Results

We captured a total of 1,098 fish within 44 sites and 12 waterbodies, of which 353 were Bull Trout (mean individuals per site = 8; range = 0 - 52), 359 were Brook Trout (mean individuals per site = 8; range = 0 - 39), and 386 were Brown Trout (mean individuals per site = 9; range = 0 - 61). Of the 44 sites sampled, four sites were removed due to missing habitat data. We were unable to sample streams with (1) Brook Trout and Brown Trout only and (2) Bull Trout and Brown Trout only due the current abundance and distribution of the species within the study area.

2.3.1 Local habitat & spatial covariate results

The Moran's I test resulted in clipping all layers to a 300m radius buffer around each site to remove spatial autocorrelation (p-values > 0.05). After clipping, North Burnt Timber had sites with the highest elevation ($\bar{x} = 1630m$), the greatest amount of riffle ($\bar{x} = 75\%$) and boulder ($\bar{x} = 28\%$), and the least amount of disturbed area ($\bar{x} = 0.1ha$) and run ($\bar{x} = 19\%$) (Table 2.1). Cutoff sites had the least amount of pool ($\bar{x} = 6\%$) and large woody debris present ($\bar{x} = 0.1$) but the most amount of gravel ($\bar{x} = 37\%$). While Elk had the highest amount of sand per site ($\bar{x} = 12\%$), it had the lowest amount of boulder ($\bar{x} = 3\%$). Fallentimber had the longest distance to mainstem ($\bar{x} = 42.5km$), the highest mean august water temperature ($\bar{x} = 13.3^{\circ}C$), the largest wetted width ($\bar{x} = 15.7m$), the greatest amount of riparian area ($\bar{x} = 7.2ha$), disturbed area ($\bar{x} = 19.9ha$), run ($\bar{x} = 55\%$), and pool ($\bar{x} = 30\%$), yet the least amount of timber area ($\bar{x} = 0.1a$) and riffle ($\bar{x} = 15\%$). Pineneedle had the lowest mean August water temperature ($\bar{x} = 8.1^{\circ}C$) and the smallest wetted

width ($\bar{x} = 3.1m$). Rough had the greatest amount of bedrock ($\bar{x} = 17\%$) and large woody debris ($\bar{x} = 10.2$) per site, the lowest elevation ($\bar{x} = 1243m$) and least amount of cobble ($\bar{x} = 27\%$). While Yara had the shallowest average depth ($\bar{x} = 15cm$), Trout had the highest average depth ($\bar{x} = 43cm$), the greatest amount of timber harvest area ($\bar{x} = 12.8ha$) and silt ($\bar{x} = 38\%$), and the least amount of riparian area ($\bar{x} = 0ha$) and gravel ($\bar{x} = 6\%$).

2.3.2 NMDS ordination results

Results from the scree plot indicated that three dimensions was adequate for ordination. A final stress value of 0.075 was obtained indicating a stable solution was obtained after 20 random starts. Results from the NMDS ordination identified the following habitat covariates: elevation, water temperature, timber area, wetted width, pool, riffle, depth, large woody debris (Table 2.2). After NMDS ordination Pearson's correlation coefficients showed no colinear or redundant relationships were present.

2.3.3 Single species N-mixture model results

Using AICc to compare the top detection and abundance models for each single species Nmixture model, wetted width and electrofishing seconds were present in the top detection model for all three species. Covariates retained in the top abundance models for Brook Trout were depth, large woody debris count, proportion of pool, and proportion of riffle (Table 2.3). The top Brown Trout abundance model retained depth, elevation, riparian area, and timber area. The top Bull Trout abundance model retained large woody debris count, proportion of pool, mean August stream temperature, and wetted width.

2.3.4 Multi species N-mixture model results

Following covariate reduction, a Bayesian p-value of 0.55 indicated good fit of the final multi species N-mixture model to the data (0.05 < Bayesian p-value < 0.95) (Kéry & Schaub, 2012). Electrofishing seconds was the only detection covariate retained in the model with the probability of detection being positively related to electrofishing seconds for all species (Table 2.4). Brook Trout abundance increases with increasing large woody debris count but decreases with average depth (Table 2.4). Brown Trout abundance increases with average depth but decreases as amount of timber area and elevation increase (Table 2.4). While Bull Trout

abundance is positively correlated with Brown Trout abundance, the correlation between Bull Trout abundance and specific habitat covariates varied based on the abundance of the non-native species (Table 2.4).

Water temperature is strongly negatively correlated with Bull Trout abundance with no interaction effects included (posterior mean = -0.726) but has a small positive effect (posterior mean = 0.065) when the Brook Trout interaction term is included (Table 2.4). The model predicts that Bull Trout abundance will be reduced when average August stream temperatures is $<11^{\circ}$ C when they are in sympatry with Brook Trout versus when they are in allopatry or in sympatry with Brown Trout (Figure 2.2a). This relationship flips when the average August stream temperature is $>11^{\circ}$ C, with sympatric Bull Trout abundance greater than allopatric Bull Trout. However, the magnitude of the difference between groups is reduced in comparison. Wetted width, which is strongly positively correlated with allopatric Bull Trout abundance (posterior mean = -0.059). The model predicts that allopatric Bull Trout abundance increases as wetted width increases but decreases with wetted width when in sympatry with Brown Trout (Figure 2.2b). However, when wetted width is <11m Bull Trout abundance is predicted to be greater when in sympatry with Brown Trout versus when they are in allopatry.

Neither pool nor riffle are correlated with Bull Trout abundance when no interaction terms are included. However, when Brook Trout are present, the abundance of Bull Trout increases with the proportion of both pool and riffle. In contrast, Bull Trout abundance decreases as the proportion of pool increases when in sympatry with Brown Trout (Table 2.4; Figure 2.2c; Figure 2.2d).

Large woody debris, which is strongly negatively correlated with Bull Trout abundance when no interaction effects are included (posterior mean = -2.558), is less strongly correlated and when Brook Trout (posterior mean = -0.217) and Brown Trout (posterior mean = 0.171) interaction effects are included. Interestingly, Brook Trout and Brown Trout result in opposite correlations between Bull Trout abundance of large woody debris. Regardless of their correlation, the model predicts that sympatric Bull Trout will benefit more from high amounts of large woody debris than allopatric Bull Trout (Figure 2.2e). However, this estimate is uncertain given the high standard error for the large woody debris in the allopatry model (Table 2.4).

2.4 Discussion

It is well established that Bull Trout are some of the most temperature sensitive salmonids and much of their distribution is limited by this (Kovach et al., 2019; Selong et al., 2001). As such, we expected stream temperature to be negatively correlated with both allopatric and sympatric Bull Trout. We expected the negative relationship to be affected by the abundance of Brook Trout given the positive correlation between water temperature and Brook Trout invasion success (Paul & Post, 2001; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a). Our results for allopatric Bull Trout abundance corroborate this, but our results for sympatric Bull Trout do not. Instead, our model predicts sympatric Bull Trout abundance is reduced when Brook Trout are present and the average August stream temperatures is <11°C. While our model cannot confirm the effect of temperature on Brook Trout invasion pressure (Dunham et al., 2003; Eby et al., 2014; Isaak et al., 2015, 2016). This result also supports the argument that Brook Trout may indeed be displacing Bull Trout in headwater streams, likely aided by their ability to invade higher elevations and their cold water preference (Adams et al., 2000; Kanda et al., 2002; Leary et al., 1993; Nakano et al., 1998; Peterson & Fausch, 2003; Rieman et al., 1997, 2006).

We also expected the negative relationship between Bull Trout abundance and water temperature to be affected by the abundance of Brown Trout given the positive correlation between Brown Trout invasion success and water temperature (Al-Chokhachy et al., 2016; Meredith et al., 2017; Wood & Budy, 2009). Instead, our results show that the relationship between Bull Trout abundance and temperature is not directly affected by Brown Trout. The higher thermal optimum and upper tolerance of Brown Trout compared to Bull Trout and the lack of streams with mean August temperatures of >14°C are likely influencing this relationship (Hari et al., 2006; McMahon et al., 2007; Selong et al., 2001; Stewart et al., 2007). Alike to Al-Chokhachy et al.'s (2016) findings, this suggests that Brown Trout are more likely to replace, rather than displace, Bull Trout in warmer streams and that Bull Trout are likely competitively advantaged in colder streams.

Wetted width is acknowledged as a factor affecting Bull Trout abundance and distribution (Rich et al., 2003; Rieman & McIntyre, 1995), but the magnitude of its effects are often difficult to discern given its relationship with elevation, water temperature, and large-scale

landscape effects (Rabeni & Sowa, 1996). Our results indicate that Bull Trout abundance is positively associated with wetted width, which is consistent with observations by Rich et al. (2003). However, Brown Trout abundance shifts this relationship, causing Bull Trout abundance to become negatively correlated with wetted width when the non-native species is present. It is unlikely that temperature is driving this relationship as Bull Trout abundance is positively correlated with wetted width when allopatric. Although model selection removed elevation as a significant covariate in all Bull Trout models, it is retained as a significant covariate in the Brown Trout abundance model. Therefore, it is still difficult to discern whether Brown Trout displace Bull Trout in larger streams specifically or if it is a matter of elevation.

Model selection retained the proportion of pool and riffle as significant covariates depending on which non-native species was present, yet their effects were weak in all model components. However, the positive correlation between proportion of riffle and Bull Trout abundance when in sympatry with Brook Trout supports the observations that complex, fast moving water may reduce competition between salmonids (Blanchet et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013b). Flow velocity may better capture this relationship and therefore should be included in future studies. Bull Trout demonstrate a preference for pool habitats, particularly for their sit and wait foraging tactics (Bonneau & Scarnecchia, 1998; Nakano et al., 1992, 1998; M. C. Rodtka & Volpe, 2007; Saffel & Scarnecchia, 1994; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013b; Watson & Hillman, 1997). Because of this, we expected the proportion of pool to be positively correlated with Bull Trout abundance. Yet model selection retained no stream flow habitat features in the allopatric model and showed weak, conflicting results in the sympatry models. Thus, using a single metric, such as in-stream complexity, would be more informative as many stream structure metrics are co-dependent and there is growing evidence for stream complexity to provide refugia for salmonids (McMahon & Hartman, 1989; Pearsons et al., 1992; Rich et al., 2003; Watson & Hillman, 1997).

In-stream large woody debris creates complex in-stream habitat by shaping stream morphology and profile (Keller & Swanson, 1979; Ralph et al., 1994), altering the amount of pool (Beschta & Platts, 1986; Fausch & Northcote, 1992), and providing in-stream cover (Harvey et al., 1999; Keim et al., 2002). While our model cannot confidently predict the degree to which large woody debris influences allopatric Bull Trout abundance, it does result in conflicting correlations depending on which non-native species is present. Our model suggests a

negative correlation between large woody debris and Bull Trout abundance when sympatric with Brook Trout. Interestingly, we observe the opposite relationship when Bull Trout are sympatric with Brown Trout. While these correlations are conflicting, sympatric Bull Trout are predicted to benefit more from high amounts of large woody debris (>15) than allopatric Bull Trout. This could be driven by an increase in complex habitat created by large woody debris, which can increase Bull Trout resiliency to Brook Trout invasion and provide Bull Trout with a feeding advantage (Rich et al., 2003; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013b). Moreover, instream barriers are thought to reduce the invasion success of Brown Trout due to their lesser ability to pass instream barriers (Kirk et al., 2018; Lokteff et al., 2013). Therefore, high woody debris counts could provide refuge for Bull Trout from Brown Trout invasion by creating potential barriers.

We designed our collection methods to encompass various levels of invasion, but the study area and current abundance and distribution of the species did not allow us to capture all intended levels. As such, sampling streams that are (1) Brook Trout / Brown Trout only and (2) Bull Trout / Brown Trout only would strengthen the model and help discern these relationships further. Subsequently, creating a model that encompasses three-way interactions and interactions between Brook Trout and Brown Trout would differentiate the population dynamics further. Unfortunately, these models are very data heavy and require much more data than we acquired.

All together, our results suggests that Brook Trout have the potential to displace Bull Trout in Alberta's headwater streams. As high stream temperatures already limit Bull Trout distribution, irrespective of interactions with non-native fish, direct displacement by Brook Trout is most likely to occur in colder streams lacking habitat complexity. The direct interactions between Brown Trout and Bull Trout are less certain, but larger, lower elevation streams are likely to see reductions in Bull Trout abundance where Brown Trout invasion is present and likely to occur. With this, monitoring and management efforts should focus on limiting further invasion of non-native trout into streams of all sizes with complex habitat and average August stream temperatures of <11°C as these provide the greatest potential for Bull Trout recovery and refugia.

2.5 Figures & Tables



Figure 2.1 - Map of the study area. Individual sites noted by white circles within individual HUC 6 watershed units (black outlines) of the Red Deer River basin (blue) and North Saskatchewan River basin (green).



Figure 2.2 – Relationship between Bull Trout abundance (n) and the habitat covariates retained in the final multispecies N-mixture model. Dotted blue line represents Bull Trout abundance when in allopatry whereas the solid lines represent Bull Trout abundance when in sympatry with Brook Trout (yellow) and Brown Trout (purple). The covariates retained include mean August water temperature (°C) (Figure 2.2a), wetted width (m) (Figure 2.2b), proportion of riffle (Figure 2.2c), proportion of run (Figure 2.2d), and large woody debris count (n) (Figure 2.2e).

Habitat Covariate	BT	СТ	EK	FT	PN	RG	TP	TR	WS	WH	YR
Elevation (m)	1630	1453	1504	1260	1435	1243	1295	1261	1493	1614	1495
Distance to mainstem (<i>km</i>)	33.8	13.4	15.2	42.5	8.4	17.9	9	8.6	22.2	6.8	5.5
Water temperature $(^{\circ}C)$	9.5	9.6	10.1	13.3	8.1	10	11	10.4	10.1	9	11.3
Riparian area (<i>ha</i>)	2.8	7	5.3	7.2	0.3	2.6	5.5	0	6.1	5.3	1.8
Timber area (<i>ha</i>)	1.9	9	0.6	0	11.9	14	10	12.8	9.5	7.5	3.9
Disturbed area (ha)	0.1	0.8	16.7	19.9	0.2	0.8	0.8	0.7	14.2	0.8	0.5
Wetted width (m)	10.3	7.5	7	15.7	3.1	4.5	7.3	5	8	3.9	4.9
Pool (%)	7	6	19	30	14	25	28	23	9	17	10
Riffle (%)	75	58	36	15	52	37	46	23	58	56	65
Run (%)	19	36	46	55	34	39	25	54	33	27	25
Depth (<i>cm</i>)	26	34	25	28	22	24	26	43	24	21	15
Silt (%)	1	21	9	7	8	30	17	38	1	20	1
Sand (%)	1	2	12	0	2	8	7	0	0	2	3
Gravel (%)	10	37	26	34	10	15	16	6	13	9	18
Cobble (%)	59	36	50	40	71	27	37	47	71	47	71
Boulder (%)	28	4	3	15	10	4	19	8	11	19	7
Bedrock (%)	2	0	0	4	0	17	4	0	4	3	0
Large woody debris (n)	0.8	0.1	1.1	1.2	1	10.2	5.6	6.3	1.2	2.1	7.3

Table 2.1 – Mean values of recorded habitat covariates for each waterbody. Waterbodies are North Burnt Timber (BT), Cutoff (CT), Elk (EK), Fallentimber (FT), Pineneedle (PN), Rough (RG), Teepee Pole (TP), Trout (TR), Wilson (WS), Wildhorse (WH), and Yara (YR).

Habitat Covaria	te	Pr(>r)	NMDS Significance	Retained in final model
Spatial				
	Elevation	0.001	***	yes
	Distance to mainstem	0.127		no
	Riparian area	0.522		no
	Disturbed area	0.173		no
	Timber area	0.069		no
	Mean August water temperature	0.049	*	yes
Observation				
	Wetted width	0.073		yes
	Pool	0.001	***	yes
	Riffle	0.043	*	yes
	Run	0.384		no
	Silt	0.847		no
	Sand	0.502		no
	Gravel	0.867		no
	Cobble	0.906		no
	Boulder	0.691		no
	Bedrock	0.808		no
	Depth	0.017	*	no
	Large woody debris	0.007	**	yes
Detection				
	Seconds	NA	NA	yes
	Wetted width	NA	NA	no

Table 2.2 - Habitat covariates utilized in the analysis and those retained after the non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) and final model selection. Pr(>r) is the significance level of the multiple regression covariate with alpha levels of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01, and <0.001 (., *, **, ***).

Parameter	Model	AICc	ΔΑΙC
Bull Trout			
Detection	p(INT + seconds + wetwidth)	770.262	0.000
	p(INT + wetwidth)	773.543	3.281
Abundance	λ (INT + lwd + pool + temp + wetwidth)	723.219	0.000
	λ (INT + elev + lwd + pool + wetwidth)	723.536	0.317
	λ (INT + lwd + pool + wetwidth)	724.028	0.809
	λ (INT + lwd + pool + riffle + wet width)	726.816	3.597
	λ (INT + elev + lwd + temp)	728.214	4.995
Brook Trout			
Detection	p(INT + seconds + wetwidth)	777.606	0.000
Abundance	λ (INT + depth + lwd + pool + riffle)	754.396	0.000
	λ (INT + depth + lwd + pool + timber)	754.535	0.139
	λ (INT + depth + lwd + riffle)	757.058	2.663
	λ (INT + depth + lwd + pool)	757.083	2.687
	λ (INT + depth + lwd + riffle + timber)	758.111	3.715
	λ (INT + depth + lwd + pool + temp)	758.704	4.309
	λ (INT + depth + elev + lwd + pool)	758.995	4.599
Brown Trout			
Detection	p(INT + seconds + wetwidth)	624.472	0.000
	p(INT + seconds)	625.920	1.448
Abundance	λ (INT + depth + elev + riparian + timber)	586.463	0.000
	λ (INT + depth + elev + timber + temp)	589.797	3.334
	λ (INT + depth + elev + lwd + timber)	589.924	3.460

Table 2.3 - Model selection results for the single species N-mixture models. Only models with <5</th>corrected Akaike information criterion ($\Delta AICc$) values are shown.

Table 2.4 – Significant habitat covariates (predictors) and their relationship (posterior mean) with the abundance and detection of each species in the final multispecies N-mixture model. The Bull Trout abundance model is separated into three components: allopatry (Allopatric Abundance), sympatry with Brook Trout (Abundance with BKTR), and sympatry with Brown Trout (Abundance with BNTR). The posterior standard deviation (posterior SD) and the 95% credible intervals (CrI) of each predictor is noted.

Parameter	Predictor	Posterior mean	Posterior SD	95% CrI
Brook trout sub-model				
Abundance	Intercept	1.507	0.098	1.25 to 1.61
	Depth	-0.647	0.268	-1.20 to -0.16
	Large woody debris	0.463	0.191	0.09 to 0.85
Detection	Intercept	-1.818	0.231	-2.3 to -1.39
	Seconds	0.269	0.078	0.12 to 0.42
Brown trout sub-model				
Abundance	Intercept	0.579	0.585	-0.69 to 1.53
	Elevation	-1.580	0.517	-2.70 to -0.64
	Depth	1.028	0.384	0.32 to 1.84
	Timber area	-1.322	0.478	-2.31 to -0.44
Detection	Intercept	-1.861	0.422	-2.78 to -1.14
	Seconds	0.358	0.120	0.13 to 0.60
Bull trout full model				
Abundance	Intercept	1.303	0.271	0.62 to 1.60
	Water temperature	-0.726	0.357	-1.46 to -0.04
	Large woody debris	-2.558	0.953	-4.50 to -0.76
	Wetted width	0.786	0.232	0.32 to 1.24
Abundance with				
BKTR interaction	Water temperature * <i>BK</i>	0.065	0.034	0.01 to 0.14
	Pool * <i>BK</i>	0.090	0.027	0.04 to 0.15
	Riffle * <i>BK</i>	0.097	0.037	0.03 to 0.18
	Large woody debris * BK	-0.217	0.115	-0.46 to -0.02
Abundance with				
BNTR interaction	BN	0.108	0.061	0.02 to 0.26
	Pool * BN	-0.025	0.013	-0.06 to -0.01
	Large woody debris * BN	0.171	0.101	0.03 to 0.42
_	Wetted width * BN	-0.059	0.032	-0.14 to -0.01
Detection	Intercept	-3.053	0.430	-3.95 to -2.24
	Seconds	0.238	0.097	0.05 to 0.43

Chapter III: Evidence for an isotopic niche shift of Bull Trout *(Salvelinus confluentus)* and competitive exclusion when in sympatry with Brook Trout *(Salvelinus fontinalis)* and Brown Trout *(Salmo trutta)*

3.1 Introduction

Aquatic ecosystems are under pressure from a multitude of stressors, with invasive species as a leading threat to freshwater biodiversity (Dudgeon et al., 2006; Reid et al., 2019). Successful invasions have resulted in range and abundance contractions of native species (Hill & Lodge, 1999), introduced harmful pathogens (Youngson et al., 1993), altered habitat (Parkos III et al., 2003), and have ultimately contributed to extinctions (Lowe et al., 2000). While these alterations not only reduce biodiversity, they can drastically alter trophic structure and dynamics, which are intrinsic to ecosystem functioning (Eby et al., 2006; Elmqvist et al., 2003; McMeans et al., 2015; Moore & Hunt, 1988; Sakai et al., 2001).

With the potential for invasive species to alter trophic structure and dynamics, stable isotope analysis (SIA) is increasingly being applied to understand diets of co-occurring species. SIA monitors ratios of naturally occurring isotopes in the tissue of organisms and traces their pathways within a food web (Fry, 2006; Peterson & Fry, 1987). Ratios of ¹³C/¹²C (d¹³C) and ¹⁵N/¹⁴N (d¹⁵N) are two of the most commonly used isotopes as they have definitive relationships with organic sources (i.e., aquatic vs. terrestrial) and trophic position, respectively, and can be measured to infer changes in diets (Jardine et al., 2012; Vander Zanden et al., 1997; Zeug & Winemiller, 2008). When partnered with computational tools, we can also use d¹³C and d¹⁵N to evaluate the trophic niche of species and their degree of overlap within a system (e.g., Collier et al., 2018; Cucherousset et al., 2020; Hansen et al., 2022). Altogether, SIA results can infer if there is potential for competition, unfilled niche occupancy, displacement, and/or resource partitioning between native and introduced species (Cucherousset et al., 2007, 2020; Gerig et al., 2018; Jensen et al., 2017).

Headwater streams are isolated and easily fragmented, with migratory species within them vulnerable to extinction (Fagan, 2002; Fausch, 2008). Yet when connectivity is high, invasion success of introduced species increases, leaving migratory fishes at risk of invasion pressure (Hess, 1994; Simberloff et al., 1992). Paradoxically, invasion successes in streams are often reciprocal due to the overlap of niche characteristics (Korsu et al., 2007). This is evident

between Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and Brown Trout (*Salmo trutta*), native to North America and Europe, respectively, where they have replaced each other in their native ranges (Fausch & White, 1981; Korsu et al., 2007; Waters, 1983). Furthermore, both species have been introduced globally and have affected native salmonids in Japan (Hasegawa, 2017; Kitano, 2004; Takami et al., 2002), New Zealand (Jones & Closs, 2017; Townsend, 1996), and elsewhere (e.g., McDowall et al., 2001; Pascual et al., 2007). The Rocky Mountain foothills of Alberta, Canada are no exception as both Brook Trout and Brown Trout have established self-sustaining populations and are threats to native Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020; Post & Gow, 2012).

With many of Alberta's downstream populations of Bull Trout extirpated, Bull Trout are of increasing conservation priority (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020; Sinnatamby et al., 2020). Their thermal sensitivity restricts their geographic range (Chapter 2, Haas & McPhail, 1991; Kovach et al., 2019; Rieman et al., 1997; Selong et al., 2001), making them extremely vulnerable to anthropogenic impacts and climate change. While their decline is attributed to a myriad of threats (i.e., climate change, habitat loss, connectivity, exploitation), the introduction of non-native fishes is a likely determinant of their decline in Alberta (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020; J. R. Post & Gow, 2012; M. Rodtka et al., 2009; Sawatzky & Secretariat, 2016). Studies have identified Brook Trout as threats through hybridization (Kanda et al., 2002; Leary et al., 1993), dietary interspecific aggression (Gunckel et al., 2002; McMahon et al., 2007; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013b), and displacement (Paul & Post, 2001; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a); however, the interactions between Bull Trout and Brown Trout have not been studied as thoroughly nor have they been studied in tandem with Brook Trout.

Past studies investigating dietary interactions between Bull Trout and Brook Trout have focused on feeding and behavioural interactions. In laboratory settings, sympatric Brook Trout increase interspecific antagonism and display a significant growth advantage over Bull Trout in warmer temperatures (McMahon et al., 2007; Rodtka & Volpe, 2007). Similarly, in-stream experiments observed competitive interactions between Brook Trout and Bull Trout with no indication of either species shifting their niche (Gunckel et al., 2002; Nakano et al., 1998). While Brown Trout have also been introduced to Alberta and occupy a wide range of Bull Trout habitat (MacCrimmon & Campbell, 1969), no studies have investigated feeding or behavioural interactions between the two species. However, experimental studies in Japan indicate that

Brown Trout are competitively superior to two of its native salmonids, White-spotted Charr (*Salvelinus leucomaenis*) and Masu Salmon (*Oncorhynchus masou*) (Hasegawa et al., 2004; Kitano, 2004).

The aim of this study was to assess how Brook Trout and Brown Trout interact with the dietary niche of Bull Trout. To accomplish this, we employed SIA to compare the trophic structure and dynamics in streams over five different levels of invasion: (a) Bull Trout dominant, (b) Brook Trout dominant, (c) Brown Trout dominant, (d) Brook Trout / Bull Trout mix, and (e) Brook Trout / Bull Trout / Brown Trout mix. Our objectives were to (1) use SIA to infer if Bull Trout diet changes in response to varying invasion levels by Brook Trout and Brown Trout, (2) determine the amount of dietary niche overlap between Bull Trout, Brook Trout, and Brown Trout, and (3) infer whether there is potential for competition, unfilled niche occupancy, displacement, and/or resource partitioning between Bull Trout and both introduced species. Hereafter, we refer to competition as a high niche overlap between the native and non-native species with no increase in total niche area or change in resource use. Unfilled niche occupancy as a non-native species using resources that were previously not used by the native species with no change to the niche of the native species. Displacement as a change in resource use from allopatry to sympatry in one species, and niche partitioning as a change in resource use from allopatry to sympatry in both the native and non-native species with reduced niche overlap in sympatry.

Based on previous studies assessing feeding interactions and behaviours between Bull Trout and Brook Trout (Gunckel et al., 2002; McMahon et al., 2007; Rodtka & Volpe, 2007; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013), we hypothesized that neither Bull Trout nor Brook Trout will shift their niche when in sympatry with each other and will have high niche overlap, resulting in competition. When in sympatry with Brown Trout, however, we hypothesized that Bull Trout and Brown Trout will shift their niche to avoid competitive interactions, resulting in niche partitioning (Hasegawa et al., 2004; Kitano, 2004). Following this, we expected there to be a higher amount of niche overlap between allopatric Brown Trout and Bull Trout than sympatric individuals.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study area and design

Our study area lies within the Saskatchewan - Nelson Rivers, where Bull Trout are listed as a Threatened species (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020). We selected headwater streams to the Red Deer River and North Saskatchewan River watersheds to encompass a vast area of core Bull Trout habitat and various levels of invasion of Brook Trout and Brown Trout (Figure 3.1). The 11 waterbodies include Yara Creek, Wildhorse Creek, North Burnt Timber Creek, Wilson Creek, Pineneedle Creek, Rocky Creek, Cutoff Creek, Elk Creek, Trout Creek, Rough Creek, and Fallentimber Creek.

3.2.2 Field methods

We conducted electrofishing surveys at 48 sites within 11 water bodies between July and August of 2020 and 2021. The goal at each site was to capture 10-30 individuals of each target species within each stream, as this is a statically robust number for stable isotope analysis (Jackson et al., 2011). We divided each site into six 50m transects for a total linear distance of 300m as per Alberta small stream protocol (Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, 2013). Using a systematic sampling design, we sampled from downstream to upstream with a Smith-Root LR24 backpack unit.

Fish were identified, weighed, and measured for both fork length and total length at the end of each transect. We took a fin clip from the upper lobe of the caudal fin from fish >65mm in fork length using a sterilized scalpel and forceps and stored clips in dry 1mL microcentrifuge tubes. Non-lethal caudal fin clips result in minimal disturbance to species and provide no significant differences in δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C isotope measurements than using a more invasive tissue plug (Hanisch et al., 2010 & Sanderson et al., 2009). As a minimum of 0.4 mg of dried tissue is required for analysis, obtaining a non-lethal fin clip large enough for stable isotope analysis was not feasible for fish <65mm and therefore no samples were taken from Bull Trout or Brown Trout <65mm (Sanderson et al., 2009). Brook Trout were the only fish we could retain. We euthanized individuals with a 200ppm buffered solution of Tricaine methane sulfonate (MS222) and then ensured death using single-blow blunt force trauma (Bayans, 2018). Euthanized fish were frozen on-site and store at -20°C until dissected for further analysis. All fish that could not be retained, we released at least 25m downstream of the start of the next electrofishing transect to avoid recapture and inflated count data.
At the start of each site, we set up two pan traps on each stream bank to collect terrestrial invertebrates. After completing electrofishing surveys, we emptied pan traps onto a fine mesh and transferred terrestrial invertebrates to 2.5mL centrifuge tubes. We collected aquatic invertebrates using a 3-minute kick sample from a pool, riffle, and run at each site, for a maximum of three kick samples per site. All samples collected were placed on ice at site, held in portable freezers in the field, and stored at -20°C until they were prepared for stable isotope analysis.

3.2.3 Laboratory methods

For each kick sample, we identified up to 200 individuals down to family, or to the next highest taxonomic rank where family could not be identified, according to Clifford (1991). Repeating families in pool, riffle, and run samples were consolidated into one group per family for each site. We classified aquatic invertebrates into five functional feeding groups (collectors, filterers, scrapers, shredders, and predators) according to Merritt and Cummins (1996). According to Borror and White (1970), we identified all terrestrial invertebrates to order. Due to the large number of samples, all predatory invertebrates were excluded from stable isotope analysis.

Fin clips and invertebrates used for stable isotope analysis were freeze dried for at least 24 hours in microcentrifuge tubes at -55°C and 0.015 Barr in a LABCONCO® FreeZone 1 Liter Benchtop Freeze Dry System. The freeze-dried tissue was homogenized using dissecting scissors and a stainless-steel rod in individual microcentrifuge tubes until a fine powder was reached. We weighed approximately 0.4 mg of each sample into 4 mm x 6 mm tin capsules using a UMX2 Ultra-microbalance (Mettler Toledo). All samples were sent to the Natural Resource and Analytics lab at the University of Alberta, analyzed using the Thermo Delta V Advantage Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer, and reported in standard delta notation (δ^{13} C vs. PDB and δ^{15} N vs. Air). Every twelfth sample was repeated for an internal standard as a measure of precision.

3.2.4 Data processing

We categorized streams into five different levels of invasion based on the number of individuals caught electrofishing: (1) Bull Trout dominant streams (>90% of catch), (2) Brook Trout dominant (>90% of catch), (3) Brown Trout dominant (>90% of catch), (4) Bull Trout / Brook Trout mix (10 to 90% of catch per species), (5) Bull Trout / Brook Trout / Brown Trout mix (10

27

to 90% of catch per species). We visually assessed all data for carbonate contamination using scatter plots of %C and %N and mathematically checked fish tissue for lipid variation using C:N ratios (Hayden, 2021; Logan et al., 2008; D. M. Post et al., 2007). Chitin, a protein common in invertebrates, has a higher C:N ratio than typical proteins (Logan et al., 2008). As such, the assumed C:N ratio of 3 for lipid free muscle does not apply well to invertebrates and the vast majority of published mathematical lipid corrections perform poorly on invertebrates (Kiljunen et al., 2008). Therefore, we chose not to correct invertebrate tissue for lipids.

3.2.5 Baseline corrections

To account for variation in δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C across waterbodies, consumer isotope values should be standardized to a baseline (Newsome et al., 2007; Svanbäck et al., 2015; Syväranta et al., 2013). As our streams lacked long-lived primary consumers, such as native snails and clams, scrapers (Tricoptera, Ephemeroptera) were chosen as the aquatic baseline given their strict algal diet (Finlay, 2001) and their low δ^{15} N values (Anderson & Cabana, 2007; Jackson & Britton, 2014; Svanbäck et al., 2015). Pooled primary consumer terrestrial invertebrates (Lepidoptera, Thysanoptera, Psocoptera, Homoptera, Plecoptera, Emphemeroptera, Trichoptera) were used as the terrestrial baselines as their δ^{13} C values mimic those of terrestrial vegetation (Finlay, 2001). Subsequently, δ^{13} C values were standardized to represent the proportion of carbon derived from terrestrial sources (1- α) using the Post (2002) equation (1) :

(1) 1 -
$$\alpha = ((\delta^{13}C_{\text{consumer}} - \text{TEF}) - \delta^{13}C_{\text{baseline2}}) / (\delta^{13}C_{\text{baseline1}} - \delta^{13}C_{\text{baseline2}})$$

Where α represents the proportion of carbon derived from aquatic sources, $\delta^{13}C_{consumer}$ represents the $\delta^{13}C$ of individual fish, $\delta^{13}C_{baseline2}$ represents the average $\delta^{13}C$ of scrapers in each waterbody, and $\delta^{13}C_{baseline1}$ represents the average $\delta^{13}C$ of terrestrial invertebrates in each waterbody. We set the trophic enrichment (TEF) of $\delta^{13}C$ to 2.3‰ as an average reported for trout species in previous studies (Beltrán et al., 2009; McCutchan et al., 2003; Pinnegar & Polunin, 1999). After correction, some α values lie outside of the 0-1 range due to error in source estimation.

 δ^{15} N values were standardized to represent trophic position (TP) using the Post (2002) equation (2):

(2) TP =
$$\left(\left(\delta^{15}N_{\text{consumer}} - \left[\delta^{15}N_{\text{baseline1}} * \alpha - \delta^{15}N_{\text{baseline2}} * (1 - \alpha)\right]\right) / (\Delta n) + \lambda$$

Where $\delta^{15}N_{consumer}$ represents the $\delta^{15}N$ of individual fish, $\delta^{15}N_{baseline1}$ represents average $\delta^{15}N$ of scrapers in each waterbody, and $\delta^{15}N_{baseline2}$ represents the average $\delta^{15}N$ of terrestrial invertebrates in each waterbody. We set the TEF of $\delta^{15}N$, the enrichment in ¹⁵N per trophic level, to 3.4‰ as per Post (2002). α represents the proportion of carbon derived from aquatic sources (see equation 1 above) and λ is the trophic level of the baseline organism (2 for primary consumers).

3.2.6 Trophic position and proportion of terrestrial carbon

To determine if the non-native species are affecting the resource use (α) and TP of Bull Trout, we pooled streams by their level of invasion and calculated the mean TP for each species at each respective level. Using a two-way ANOVA, we tested whether there was a significant difference in TP between species within invasion levels and each species between invasion level. In the global model we included species and invasion level as predictors then selected the model with the lowest AICc. The best model was visually assessed for normality and homogeneity and subsequently log transformed to meet the assumptions. Lastly, we used a Tukey HSD post hoc test to test for significant differences (p-value < 0.001) between invasion levels and species. The above process was repeated and used to test the effects of invasion level and species on the proportion of carbon derived from terrestrial sources (1- α).

3.2.7 Standard ellipses area and niche overlap

We use standard ellipse area (SEA_B), a Bayesian estimate of isotopic niche width that is suitable for small sample sizes (n <30) (Jackson et al., 2011), to calculate individual species' trophic niche at each invasion level. To calculate SEA_B, we used the R package SIBER (Jackson et al., 2011). TP and proportion of terrestrial carbon were used as proxies for δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C to allow for pooling of streams and comparison among invasion levels. We ran the model for 10,000 iterations, with 2 chains, a burn in of 1000, and a thinning rate of 10. To determine if niche width varied between species within invasion levels and for each species between invasion level, we compared the SEA_B 95% posterior credible intervals (Olsson et al., 2009; Syväranta et al., 2013). If the 95% posterior credible intervals did not overlap, they were considered significantly different from another (Jackson et al., 2011).

To estimate the amount of overlap between species within invasion levels, we used a Bayesian framework in the R package nicheROVER (Lysy et al., 2021). Niche area was calculated at each invasion level for each species as a 95% probability region. The mean overlap was computed directionally and returned as percent overlap, meaning that there is X% of species A in species B's niche and Y% of species B in species A's niche (Lysy et al., 2021; Swanson et al., 2015). We compared percent overlap between levels of invasion to look for evidence of competition, displacement, and resource partitioning.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Data processing

A total of 610 fin clips were collected from 48 sites within 11 streams (Figure 3.1). Of these were 222 Brook Trout, 224 Bull Trout, and 164 Brown Trout. Before baseline correction, mean stable isotope values ranged from -33.2 to -28.6‰ (δ^{13} C) and 6.9 to 8.2‰ (δ^{15} N) for Brook Trout, -33.5 to -29.2‰ (δ^{13} C) and 6.4 to 8.2‰ (δ^{15} N) for Bull Trout, -31.9 to -25.9‰ (δ^{13} C) and 7.1 to 9.7‰ (δ^{15} N) for Brown Trout (Table 3.1). No effects of carbonate were found and C:N ratios of the fish tissue was near or below 3.5. Baseline isotopic values range from -38.7 to -33.8‰ (δ^{13} C) and 1.4 to 4.4‰ (δ^{15} N) for the aquatic invertebrates and -31.8 to -26.6‰ (δ^{13} C) and 0.4 to 4.4‰ (δ^{15} N) for the terrestrial invertebrates.

3.3.2 Trophic position & terrestrial carbon

Overall, Bull Trout had the lowest TP of the three species (3.38 ± 0.02) (Table 3.2). Comparisons between invasion levels showed that while Bull Trout TP was unchanged in the presence of non-native species, Brook Trout TP significantly increases in all sympatric invasion levels (Figure 3.2). Brook Trout TP was significantly greater when in sympatry with only Bull Trout versus when they were in sympatry with both Bull Trout and Brown Trout (Figure 3.2; Table 3.2). In contrast, Brown Trout TP significantly decreases when both Bull Trout and Brook Trout are present. Comparisons within invasion levels showed that allopatric Brown Trout have a significantly higher TP than allopatric Bull Trout and Brook Trout. Yet when all three species are present, only sympatric Brook Trout have a significantly higher TP than sympatric Bull Trout.

Bull Trout had the lowest proportion of carbon derived from terrestrial sources overall (0.36 ± 0.02) (Table 3.2). Comparisons between invasion levels show that the proportion of carbon derived from terrestrial sources in Bull Trout significantly decreases from allopatry to sympatry with both Brook Trout and Brown Trout (Figure 3.3; Table 3.2). Correspondingly, the proportion of carbon derived from terrestrial sources in Brown Trout significantly increases from allopatry to sympatry with both Bull Trout and Brook Trout (Figure 3.3). There is no significant difference in the proportion of carbon derived from terrestrial sources between the Bull Trout in sympatry with Brook Trout, and Bull Trout in other invasion levels. Brook Trout have no significant change in the proportion of carbon derived from terrestrial sources between invasion levels.

3.3.3 Standard ellipses area and niche overlap

Between invasion levels, there was no significant change in niche width of any of the individual species (Figure 3.4). When comparing total niche width of all species in each invasion level, there was a moderate, yet insignificant, increase in niche width as the number of species increases (Table 3.2). As for niche overlap, there was a high median probability that Brook Trout (88% probability) and Brown Trout (91% probability) will be found in the overall dietary niche of Bull Trout (Figure 3.5; Table 3.3). Similarly, there was a high median probability that Bull Trout will be found in the dietary niche of Brook Trout (89% probability) and Brown Trout (88% probability). When comparing the niche overlap between invasion levels, the likelihood of Brook Trout in the niche of Bull Trout, and vice versa, did not change significantly (Table 3.3). Contrarily, there was a significantly smaller likelihood of allopatric Bull Trout and Brook Trout occupying the dietary niche of allopatric Brown Trout (Table 3.3; Figure 3.6).

3.4 Discussion

The introduction and stocking of Brook Trout and Brown Trout have occurred globally, putting invasion pressure on native fishes (Kitano, 2004; Lowe et al., 2000; Townsend, 1996; Waters, 1983). When top-predator game fish such as these are introduced and naturalized, the number of top predator species increases or the native species are replaced (Eby et al., 2006). In either of

31

these scenarios, trophic structure and dynamics can be altered through changes to top-down control, habitat coupling, or trophic efficiency (Eby et al., 2006; McMeans et al., 2015). If native trout remain after invasion and the number of top-predator species increases, the availability of resources can become limited, forcing one or more species to use less desirable resources (Eby et al., 2006; Kitano, 2004; Nakano et al., 1998; Nakano, Fausch, et al., 1999; Taniguchi et al., 2002). Our results corroborate this process and demonstrate that Bull Trout in sympatry with Brook Trout and Brown Trout undergo a niche shift.

When sympatric with both introduced species, Bull Trout shifted their dietary niche and consumed less terrestrial-based carbon sources. While it appears the niche shift of Brown Trout to consuming more terrestrial-based carbon is driving this, Brook Trout are likely influencing this relationship. When in sympatry with Brook Trout in their native range, European Brown Trout underwent a dietary niche shift, consuming more terrestrial-based carbon than allopatric Brown Trout (Cucherousset et al., 2007). Cucherousset et al. (2007) suggest that the aggressive interference of Brown Trout with Brook Trout for habitat drives the increase in terrestrial-based carbon consumption (Fausch & White, 1981; Nyman, 1970). Our results corroborated this and showed that Bull Trout are excluded from terrestrial resources. While changing foraging tactics can allow for species co-existence (Holbrook & Schmitt, 1989; Nakano, Fausch, et al., 1999), the niche shift did not allow Bull Trout to escape competition with the non-native fishes as there was no significant change in niche overlap between allopatry and sympatry. As a result, Bull Trout are forced to use less desirable resources when in sympatry with Brook Trout and Brown Trout. Consequently, Bull Trout growth and abundance will likely be hindered when terrestrial invertebrates are low and/or usurped, as demonstrated by Dolly Varden (Salvelinus malma), a close relative of Bull Trout, when sympatric with non-native Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) (Baxter et al., 2007).

Brook Trout bare fast-to mature young, making them prolific reproducers and strong competitors (Dunham et al., 2002; Lobón-Cerviá & Sanz, 2017; Raleigh, 1982). This is evident in streams they have invaded where they occur in greater densities than the species they replace (Benjamin & Baxter, 2010). With dominance in interspecific interactions mainly determined by size (Nakano & Furukawa-Tanaka, 1994), Brook Trout threaten Bull Trout, given Bull Trout are slower growing and mature later (Dunham et al., 2008; Meyer et al., 2006). Further evidence for the interspecific dominance of Brook Trout is shown in laboratory studies where Brook Trout

exhibited a competitive and growth advantage over Bull Trout, particularly in warmer water temperatures (McMahon et al., 2007). Our results showed that Brook Trout TP significantly increases from allopatry to sympatry and that Brook Trout occupied a significantly higher TP than Bull Trout when all three species are in sympatry. This suggests that Brook Trout likely retain their competitive advantage in Alberta's foothills and the presence of Brown Trout may increase their competitive interference. While piscivory is possibly influencing the increase in TP, it is also likely that Brook Trout are selectively feeding on the large to medium sized invertebrates and usurping invertebrates with higher a TP (Bechara et al., 1993). If all the larger invertebrates are usurped by Brook Trout, Bull Trout will be forced to expend more energy to obtain an equal amount of energy intake, thereby decreasing their fitness (Stephens & Krebs, 1987).

The lack of significant change in the total niche width (all species combined) and individual species niche widths combined with the slight increase in percent overlap, provides no evidence of niche partitioning between sympatric Bull Trout and Brook Trout. Our results validated the experimental and observational studies that found no proof of a niche shift when investigating feeding and behavioural interactions between Brook Trout and Bull Trout (Gunckel et al., 2002; Nakano et al., 1998). The lack of niche partitioning and high degree (>84%) of niche overlap between sympatric Brook Trout and Bull Trout leaves a potential for competitive exclusion, mainly when resources are low. The potential for competitive exclusion is likely intensified by the difference in feeding interactions between species. While Bull Trout generally use a sit-and-wait foraging tactic (Bonneau & Scarnecchia, 1998; Nakano et al., 1992, 1998; Saffel & Scarnecchia, 1994; Watson & Hillman, 1997), sympatric Brook Trout are more likely to competitively interfere for resources (Gunckel et al., 2002; McMahon et al., 2007; Rodtka & Volpe, 2007; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013b). As a result, Bull Trout are likely to be displaced from preferred food sources (i.e., terrestrial invertebrates, and large prey) when resources are scarce and Brook Trout abundance is high.

Although studies have identified terrestrial invertebrates as a key resource for trout (Baxter et al., 2007; Elliott, 1973; Hubert & Rhodes, 1989; Nakano, Kawaguchi, et al., 1999), the degree to which they are incorporated into their diet may depend on the availability of benthic invertebrates (Wilson et al., 2014). While cold water streams are predicted to provide refuge for salmonids in a changing climate (Dunham et al., 2003; L. A. Eby et al., 2014; Isaak et al., 2015,

33

2016), these streams are often depleted in benthic resources (Huryn & Wallace, 2000). Together with the ability for both Brook Trout and Brown Trout to occupy cold-water streams (MacCrimmon & Campbell, 1969; Smialek et al., 2021), and therefore often low productivity streams, and the competitive interference of Brook Trout, Bull Trout are likely to be excluded from terrestrial invertebrates when resources are limited.

Altogether, our data suggests that Brown Trout and Brook Trout have the potential to competitively exclude Bull Trout in Alberta's headwater streams through two mechanisms. Firstly, Brown Trout are likely to usurp terrestrial invertebrates and displace Bull Trout from a preferred resource. Concurrently, Brook Trout are likely to usurp larger sized prey and displace Bull Trout from high reward resources. Thus, competitive exclusion is most likely to occur in streams where invertebrate abundance is low and all three species are in sympatry. With this, monitoring and management efforts should focus on limiting further invasion of Brook Trout and Brown Trout into streams with healthy Bull Trout populations where resources are already limited by environmental conditions.

3.5 Figures & Tables



Figure 3.1 - Map of the study area. Individual sites noted by white circles within individual HUC 6 watershed units (black outlines) of the Red Deer River basin (blue) and North Saskatchewan River basin (green)



Figure 3.2 – Trophic position of individual species within invasions levels. The first tile includes streams of the Brook Trout dominant, Bull Trout dominant, and Brown Trout dominant streams. The second tile includes streams of the Brook Trout / Bull Trout invasion level, and the third tile includes streams of the Brook Trout / Bull Trout / Brown Trout invasion level. Significant differences (p-value < 0.001) between species indicated by ***. Significant differences within a species denoted by differing letters.



Figure 3.3 – Proportion of terrestrial-based carbon in the diet of individual species within invasions levels. The first tile includes streams of the Brook Trout dominant, Bull Trout dominant, and Brown Trout dominant streams. The second tile includes streams of the Bull Trout / Brook Trout invasion level, and the third tile includes streams of the Bull Trout / Brook Trout / Brown Trout invasion level. Significant differences (p-value < 0.001) between species indicated by ***. Significant differences within a species denoted by differing letters.



Figure 3.4 – Average niche width (SEA_B) between invasion levels. Individual tiles show the niche width of all species combined (all), Brook Trout (bktr), Bull Trout (bltr), and Brown Trout (bntr).



Figure 3.5 – Isotopic niche overlap between Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), and Brown Trout (BNTR) over all invasion levels. Figure 3.5a shows the mean posterior probability (solid line) and the 95% confidence intervals (dotted line) of an individual species from the row being found within the niche of the species in the column. Figure 3.5b shows the standard ellipse area of the core niche (40% confidence interval – solid lines) and the realized niche (95% confidence interval – solid lines) and the realized niche (95% confidence interval – dotted lines) of Brook Trout (yellow), Bull Trout (purple), and Brown Trout (blue).

b)



Figure 3.6 – Isotopic niche overlap between allopatric Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), and Brown Trout (BNTR). Figure 3.6a shows the mean posterior probability (solid line) and the 95% confidence intervals (dotted line) of an individual species from the row being found within the niche of the species in the column. Figure 3.6b shows the standard ellipse area of the core niche (40% confidence interval – solid lines) and the realized niche (95% confidence interval – dotted lines) of Brook Trout (yellow), Bull Trout (purple), and Brown Trout (blue)

b)

Table 3.1 – Means and standard deviation of raw δ 13C and δ 15N values for Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), Brown Trout (BNTR), aquatic invertebrates (Collectors, Filterers, Scrapers, and Shredders), and terrestrial invertebrates (Terrestrial). Streams are separated by the invasion levels of Bull Trout dominant (BLTR), Brown Trout dominant (BNTR), Brook Trout dominant (BKTR), Bull Trout / Brook Trout mix (BLTR/BKTR), and Bull Trout / Brook Trout / Brown Trout mix (BLTR/BKTR).

Invasion Level	Waterbody	Isotope	BKTR	BLTR	BNTR	Collectors	Filterers	Scrapers	Shredders	Terrestrial
BLTR	Burnt Timber	δ ¹⁵ N	-	6.4 (0.3)	-	2.5 (0.7)	-	1.4 (0.46)	2.4 (0.5)	2.5 (0.9)
		$\delta^{13}C$	-	-30.9 (0.4)	-	-33.8 (0.5)	-	-35.7 (0.5)	-31.7 (0.5)	-29.1 (0.5)
	Rocky	$\delta \ ^{15}N$	-	7.78 (0.1)	-	3.1 (0.3)	-	3.5 (0.2)	3.1 (0.6)	2.2 (1.2)
		$\delta^{13}C$	-	-31.8 (0.3)	-	-36.1 (1.2)	-	-38.0 (0.6)	-29.7 (2.8)	-30.7 (0.9)
BNTR	Fallentimber	$\delta \ ^{15}N$	-	-	9.7 (0.1)	4.5 (0.2)	-	4.3 (0.3)	5.9 (0.7)	3.0 (3.2)
		$\delta^{13}C$	-	-	-30.0 (0.2)	-34.7 (0.6)	-	-35.5 (1.0)	-32.7 (0.5)	-26.6 (0.3)
BKTR	Pineneedle	$\delta \ ^{15}N$	7.2 (0.1)	-	-	1.8 (0.6)	-	1.8 (0.13)	2.9 (0.8)	4.4
		δ ¹³ C	-31.8 (0.2)	-	-	-32.6 (2.8)	-	-36.8 (0.7)	-31.3 (1.9)	-31.8
	Yara	$\delta \ ^{15}N$	7.2 (0.2)	-	-	2.4 (0.5)	-	3.3 (0.3)	3.2 (0.8)	0.5 (0.3)
		δ ¹³ C	-31.3 (0.3)	-	-	-36.2 (1.4)	-	-38.2 (0.9)	-31.6 (1.7)	-27.7 (0.4)
BLTR / BKTR	Wildhorse	δ ^{15}N	8.2 (0.1)	7.9 (0.3)	-	2.9 (0.2)	-	2.6 (0.1)	3.5 (0.4)	1.7 (0.8)
		δ ¹³ C	-29.0 (0.4)	-29.4 (0.6)	-	-33.5 (1.5)	-	-37.8 (0.5)	-32.5 (0.6)	-28.7 (1.1)
	Wilson	δ ^{15}N	7.7 (0.1)	7.3 (0.1)	-	2.6 (0.2)	-	3.0 (0.1)	3.3 (0.3)	2.2 (0.9)
		δ ¹³ C	-31.5 (0.2)	-33.5 (0.1)	-	-36.4 (0.9)	-	-37.4 (0.5)	-32.0 (0.6)	-27.6 (0.5)
BLTR / BKTR / BNTR	Cutoff	δ ^{15}N	6.9 (0.2)	7.1 (0.2)	8.2 (0.1)	2.5 (0.2)	3.8 (0.3)	2.0 (0.2)	2.4 (0.3)	3.1 (0.4)
		$\delta^{13}C$	-29.1 (0.3)	-30.3 (0.3)	-26.0 (0.4)	-31.1 (0.7)	-27.5 (1.2)	-33.8 (0.5)	-30.4 (0.5)	-27.8 (0.5)
	Elk	δ ^{15}N	7.9 (0.1)	7.7 (0.2)	8.2 (0.1)	3.6 (0.2)	-	4.1 (0.2)	4.34 (0.3)	3.0 (0.8)
		$\delta^{13}C$	-33.2 (0.3)	-33.0 (0.6)	-30.6 (0.4)	-37.4 (0.8)	-	-38.7 (0.4)	-33.9 (0.7)	-29.4 (1.8)
	Rough	δ ^{15}N	7.5 (0.1)	7.0 (0.04)	7.1 (0.2)	2.9 (0.2)	-	3.5 (0.3)	3.3 (0.5)	0.4 (0.3)
		$\delta^{13}C$	-29.4 (0.2)	-31.8 (0.1)	-29.8 (0.2)	-33.9 (0.8)	-	-36.0 (0.4)	-31.4 (1.1)	-28.8 (0.4)
	Trout	δ ^{15}N	7.3 (0.2)	8.3 (0.2)	8.5 (0.1)	4.1 (0.2)	4.0 (0.3)	4.4 (0.2)	4.1 (0.3)	1.8 (0.5)
		$\delta^{13}C$	-28.6 (0.6)	-29.2 (0.7)	-31.9 (0.3)	-36.1 (0.5)	-31.8 (1.3)	-37.0 (0.5)	-33.3 (0.6)	-28.3 (0.6)

0	BKTR			BLTR			BNTR			ALL		
	TP	1-α	SEA _B	ТР	1-α	SEA _B	ТР	1-α	SEA _B	TP	1-α	SEA _B
Burnt Timber	-	-	-	3.35 (0.08)	0.38 (0.07)	0.24 (0.16, 0.36)	-	-	-	3.35 (0.08)	0.38 (0.07)	0.24 (0.16, 0.36)
Fallentimber	-	-	-	-	-	-	3.74 (0.04)	0.36 (0.03)	(0.08, 0.15)	3.74 (0.04)	0.36 (0.03)	0.11 (0.08, 0.15)
Pineneedle	3.08 (0.03)	0.67 (0.04)	0.09 (0.06, 0.12)	-	-	-	-	-	-	3.08 (0.03)	0.67 (0.04)	0.09 (0.06, 0.12)
Rocky	-	-	-	3.46 (0.03)	0.54 (0.04)	0.07 (0.05, 0.1)	-	-	-	3.46 (0.03)	0.54 (0.04)	0.07 (0.05, 0.1)
Yara	3.52 (0.04)	0.44 (0.03)	0.1 (0.07, 0.14)	-	-	-	-	-	-	3.52 (0.04)	0.44 (0.03)	0.1 (0.07, 0.14)
Allopatry	3.29 (0.04)*	0.56 (0.03)	0.1 (0.01)	3.4 (0.04)	0.5 (0.04) *	0.16 (0.09)	3.74 (0.04)*	0.36 (0.03)*	0.11	3.44 (0.03)	0.49 (0.02)	0.12 (0.03)
Wildhorse	3.82	0.71	0.18	3.74	0.66	0.21	_	-	-	3.8	0.7	0.22
	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.13, 0.26)	(0.11)	(0.06)	(0.13, 0.34)				(0.05)	(0.04)	(0.17, 0.29)
Wilson	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.04, 0.08)	(0.03)	(0.01)	(0.03) (0.02, 0.04)	-	-	-	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.07) (0.05, 0.09)
BLTR /	3.65	0.55	0.12	3.46	0.36	0.12	-	_	-	3.57	0.47	0.14
BKTR	(0.04)*	(0.04)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.05)	(0.09)				(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.08)
Cutoff	3.33	0.41	0.17	3.45	0.2	0.25	3.51	0.93	0.16	3.44	0.51	0.33
Elk	(0.03) 3.23 (0.03)	(0.03) 0.35 (0.03)	(0.11, 0.20) 0.05 (0.03, 0.08)	(0.05) 3.17 (0.07)	(0.03) 0.37 (0.07)	(0.16, 0.33) 0.22 (0.16, 0.32)	(0.03) 3.41 (0.04)	(0.00) 0.62 (0.04)	(0.11, 0.23) 0.1 (0.07, 0.14)	(0.03) 3.29 (0.03)	(0.03) 0.47 (0.03)	(0.20, 0.4) 0.14 (0.12, 0.18)
Rough	(0.05) 3.72 (0.06)	(0.03) (0.03)	(0.05, 0.00) 0.14 (0.11, 0.19)	(0.07) 3.27 (0.02)	(0.07) 0.26 (0.01)	(0.10, 0.52) 0.02 (0.01, 0.02)	3.55	(0.01) 0.54 (0.03)	(0.07, 0.11) 0.08 (0.05, 0.13)	(0.03) 3.52 (0.03)	(0.03) 0.46 (0.02)	(0.12, 0.10) 0.12 (0.1, 0, 14)
Trout	(0.00) 3.39 (0.06)	(0.03) 0.7 (0.07)	(0.11, 0.19) 0.06 (0.03, 0.16)	3.62 (0.09)	0.63 (0.08)	(0.01, 0.02) 0.13 (0.06, 0.27)	3.45 (0.04)	0.33 (0.04)	(0.05, 0.15) 0.09 (0.07, 0.13)	(0.03) 3.47 (0.04)	(0.02) 0.42 (0.04)	(0.1, 0.11) 0.16 (0.12, 0.2)
BLTR / BKTR / BNTR	3.5 (0.04)*	0.5 (0.02)	0.11 (0.03)	3.32 (0.03)	0.3 (0.02)*	0.16 (0.05)	3.47 (0.02)*	0.6 (0.03)*	0.11 (0.02)	3.42 (0.02)	0.47 (0.02)	0.18 (0.05)
TOTAL	3.49 (0.02)	0.53 (0.02)	0.11 (0.02)	3.38 (0.02)	0.36 (0.02)	0.15 (0.03)	3.53 (0.02)	0.54 (0.03)	0.11 (0.01)	3.47 (0.01)	0.47 (0.01)	0.15 (0.02)

Table 3.2 – Trophic position (TP), terrestrial-based carbon (1- α), and standard ellipses area (SEA_B) of Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), Brown Trout (BNTR), and all species together (ALL) by stream. Averages for each species within invasion levels are bolded and significant differences (p-value < 0.001) between invasion levels for each species noted with a *.

Table 3.3 – Mean isotopic niche overlap between Brook Trout (BKTR), Bull Trout (BLTR), and Brown Trout (BNTR) with 95% confidence intervals. Means represent the probability that a species from the column will be found in the isotopic niche of a species in the row. Percent overlap is separated by allopatric streams (Allopatry), Bull Trout / Brook Trout streams (BLTR / BKTR), Bull Trout / Brook Trout streams (BLTR / BKTR / BNTR) and overlap within all streams (Total overlap).

		BKTR	BLTR	BNTR
	BKTR	-	71.14 (58.49, 83.8)	73.36 (55.29, 88.8)
Allopatry	BLTR	80.75 (67.9, 91)	-	71.79 (49.5, 90.7)
	BNTR	33.39 (21.3, 48.6)	36.59 (21.2, 56.61)	-
	BKTR	-	84.67 (71.69, 94.6)	-
BLTR / BKTR	BLTR	86.07 (73.79, 95.5)	-	-
	BNTR	-	-	-
	BKTR	-	84.66 (75.69, 92.5)	80.69 (71.7, 89.1)
BLTR / BKTR / BNTR	BLTR	88.57 (80.4, 95.1)	-	81.84 (72.1, 89.61)
	BNTR	83.42 (74.6, 91.1)	84.63 (76.1, 92)	-
	BKTR	-	89.18 (83.6, 94.1)	90.43 (85.6, 94.7)
Total overlap	BLTR	88.11 (82.7, 93.1)	-	86.33 (79.5, 91.8)
	BNTR	90.99 (86, 95.4)	88.47 (82.1, 93.8)	-

Chapter IV: General Conclusions

With Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) populations undergoing significant declines from a multitude of stressors (i.e., climate change, introduced species, habitat degradation) (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2020; J. R. Post & Gow, 2012; M. Rodtka et al., 2009; Sawatzky & Secretariat, 2016; Sinnatamby et al., 2020), it is imperative to understand the degree to which non-native fishes are implicated in their decline. The overall objective of my thesis was to investigate the effects of Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and Brown Trout (*Salmo trutta*), two non-native species, on the resource use of Bull Trout in Alberta's foothills. To do so, I developed a multi-species N-mixture model using in-stream and land use derived characteristics to disentangle whether Brook Trout and Brown Trout are spatially displacing or replacing Bull Trout from habitat (Chapter 2). Subsequently, I investigated how Brook Trout and Brown Trout interact with the dietary niche of Bull Trout using stable isotope analysis to determine if there is potential for competition, unfilled niche occupancy, displacement, and/or resource partitioning when sympatric (Chapter 3).

Brook Trout and Brown Trout are two of the most widely introduced salmonids and have negatively affected native fishes globally, yet how they interact with Bull Trout habitat is unclear. As a result, it is difficult to determine whether Bull Trout are spatially displaced by nonnative fishes or if their range contractions are attributed to abiotic conditions. In Chapter 2 we predicted that Bull Trout in sympatry with Brook Trout and Brown Trout would benefit from streams of higher elevation, with colder temperatures, higher large woody debris count, and higher proportions of pool and boulder (Al-Chokhachy et al., 2016; Bozek & Hubert, 1992; Kirk et al., 2018; Paul & Post, 2001; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a; Wood & Budy, 2009). However, results from our multi-species N-mixture models only partially supported these hypotheses. Our results confirmed that cold-water streams (<11°C) provide refuge for Bull Trout in a changing climate and from Brown Trout invasion; however, water temperature does not provide refuge from the invasion pressure of Brook Trout. While our model cannot confirm the effect of temperature on Brook Trout invasive success (Paul & Post, 2001; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a), it corroborated the ability for Brook Trout to invade high elevation streams and their cold water preference (Adams et al., 2000; Kanda et al., 2002; Leary et al., 1993; Nakano et al., 1998; Peterson & Fausch, 2003; Rieman et al., 1997, 2006).

Although cold-water streams limit the invasion pressures of Brown Trout, they pervade in other environments. Our results indicated that Brown Trout shift the relationship between Bull Trout and the wetted width of a stream from positive to negative, irrespective of water temperature. However, given elevation was retained as a model component and its relationship with wetted width and large-scale landscape effects (Rabeni & Sowa, 1996), it is possible that the higher invasion pressure in larger streams is a result of elevation. Although invasion pressure is likely to be present in cold headwater streams from Brook Trout and larger, lower elevation streams from Brown Trout, our result indicated that stream complexity could provide refugia for Bull Trout from invasion pressure. Our model indicated that high large woody debris counts (>15), provides Bull Trout refuge from the invasion of Brook Trout, likely through the creation of complex in-stream habitat, and Brown Trout, likely due impassable in-stream barriers (Beschta & Platts, 1986; Fausch & Northcote, 1992, 1992; Harvey et al., 1999; Keim et al., 2002; Keller & Swanson, 1979; Ralph et al., 1994). These results are consistent with the growing body of evidence that suggests stream complexity will be an important source of refuge for salmonids (McMahon & Hartman, 1989; Pearsons et al., 1992; Rich et al., 2003; Watson & Hillman, 1997). Collectively, our results from Chapter 2 indicate that both Brook Trout and Brown Trout have the potential to spatially displace Bull Trout, but cold-water streams with high stream complexity may help mitigate invasion pressures.

To fully understand the degree to which Brook Trout and Brown Trout contribute to the decline of Bull Trout, we investigated how they interact with the dietary niche of Bull Trout in Chapter 3. We predicted that sympatric Brook Trout and Bull Trout will have a high niche overlap and that we would observe competition because of their feeding behaviour and interactions (Gunckel et al., 2002; McMahon et al., 2007; M. C. Rodtka & Volpe, 2007; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013b). Our results corroborated our hypothesis, indicated by the high niche overlap (>84%) between sympatric Bull Trout and Brook Trout and the lack of niche shift from allopatry to sympatry. This is consistent with laboratory and in-stream studies that found no evidence for a niche shift in sympatric Bull Trout and Brook Trout (Gunckel et al., 2002; Nakano et al., 1998). Adversely, we predicted that sympatric Brown Trout and Bull Trout would have less niche overlap and would shift their niches to avoid competition (Hasegawa et al., 2004; Kitano, 2004). As hypothesized, sympatric Bull Trout and Brown Trout shifted their niche; however, niche overlap remained high between sympatric Bull Trout and Brown Trout (>80%)

45

and Bull Trout were displaced from terrestrial resources. These results indicated that a niche shift did not enable Bull Trout to avoid competition while it also displaced them from terrestrial prey, a crucial resource for salmonid growth (Baxter et al., 2007). Taken together, our results from Chapter 3 indicate that both Brook Trout and Brown Trout affect the dietary niche of Bull Trout and that competition for resources is likely to occur in streams where resources are limited, with Bull Trout being the species most negatively affected.

This work has successfully addressed the goal of my thesis which was to assess the effects of Brook Trout and Brown Trout on the resource use of Bull Trout in the Rocky Mountain Foothills of Alberta, Canada. Our findings suggest that both Brook Trout and Brown Trout interfere with the resource use of Bull Trout on a habitat and dietary level. From these works, managers should look to identify streams with high complexity and temperatures <11°C as they provide the greatest potential for Bull Trout refugia from the invasion pressures of non-native fishes in a changing climate. Subsequently, as Bull Trout populations in streams of low productivity are vulnerable to competition for resources, preventing future invasion into streams with healthy Bull Trout populations and low productivity should be prioritized.

Literature Cited

- Adams, S. B., Frissell, C. A., & Rieman, B. E. (2000). Movements of Nonnative Brook Trout in Relation to Stream Channel Slope. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *129*(3), 623–638. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2000)129<0623:MONBTI>2.3.CO;2
- Alberta Environment and Parks. (2022). *Fish and Wildlife Internet Mapping Tool.* https://www.alberta.ca/fisheries-and-wildlife-management-information-systemoverview.aspx
- Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development. (2013). *Standard for sampling of small streams in Alberta (public version)*. Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development (AESRD), Government of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Al-Chokhachy, R., Schmetterling, D., Clancy, C., Saffel, P., Kovach, R., Nyce, L., Liermann, B., Fredenberg, W., & Pierce, R. (2016). Are brown trout replacing or displacing bull trout populations in a changing climate? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 73(9), 1395–1404. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2015-0293
- Anderson, C., & Cabana, G. (2007). Estimating the trophic position of aquatic consumers in river food webs using stable nitrogen isotopes. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 2, 273. BioOne Complete. https://doi.org/10.1899/0887-3593(2007)26[273:ETTPOA]2.0.CO;2
- Barton, K. (2020). *MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference* (1.43.17) [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn

Baxter, C. V., Fausch, K. D., Murakami, M., & Chapman, P. L. (2007). Invading rainbow trout usurp a terrestrial prey subsidy from native charr and reduce their growth and abundance. *Oecologia*, 153(2), 461–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-007-0743-x

Bayans, T. (2018). Fish H-2 Euthanasia of Fish. University of Alberta Research Ethics Office.

Bechara, J. A., Moreau, G., & Hare, L. (1993). The Impact of Brook Trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) on an Experimental Stream Benthic Community: The Role of Spatial and Size Refugia. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, 62(3), 451. https://doi.org/10.2307/5194

Beer, W. N., & Anderson, J. J. (2011). Sensitivity of juvenile salmonid growth to future climate trends. *River Research and Applications*, 27(5), 663–669. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.1390

- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W., & Courchamp, F. (2012). Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecology Letters (Print)*, 15(4), 365–377.
 PASCAL Archive.
- Beltrán, M., Fernández-Borrás, J., Médale, F., Pérez-Sánchez, J., Kaushik, S., & Blasco, J. (2009). Natural abundance of ¹⁵ N and ¹³ C in fish tissues and the use of stable isotopes as dietary protein tracers in rainbow trout and gilthead sea bream. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, *15*(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2008.00563.x
- Benjamin, J. R., & Baxter, C. V. (2010). Do Nonnative Salmonines Exhibit Greater Density and Production than the Natives They Replace? A Comparison of Nonnative Brook Trout with Native Cutthroat Trout. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 139(3), 641–651. https://doi.org/10.1577/T09-102.1
- Benjamin, J. R., Dunham, J. B., & Dare, M. R. (2007). Invasion by Nonnative Brook Trout in Panther Creek, Idaho: Roles of Local Habitat Quality, Biotic Resistance, and

Connectivity to Source Habitats. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *136*(4), 875–888. https://doi.org/10.1577/T06-115.1

- Beschta, R. L., & Platts, W. S. (1986). MORPHOLOGICAL FEATURES OF SMALL STREAMS: SIGNIFICANCE AND FUNCTION. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 22(3), 369–379. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.1986.tb01891.x
- Blanchet, S., Dodson, J. J., & Brosse, S. (2006). Influence of habitat structure and fish density on Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L. territorial behaviour. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 68(3), 951– 957. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-1112.2006.00970.x
- Bonneau, J. L., & Scarnecchia, D. L. (1998). Seasonal and diel changes in habitat use by juvenile bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) and cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki*) in a mountain stream. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *76*(5), 783–790.
 https://doi.org/10.1139/z98-005
- Borror, D. J., & White, R. E. (1970). Peterson Field Guides—Insects. Houghton-Mifflin Company.
- Bozek, M. A., & Hubert, W. A. (1992). Segregation of resident trout in streams as predicted by three habitat dimensions. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 70(5), 886–890. https://doi.org/10.1139/z92-126
- Brodie, J. F., Helmy, O. E., Mohd-Azlan, J., Granados, A., Bernard, H., Giordano, A. J., &
 Zipkin, E. (2018). Models for assessing local-scale co-abundance of animal species while accounting for differential detectability and varied responses to the environment. *Biotropica*, 50(1), 5–15.

- Buisson, L., Blanc, L., & Grenouillet, G. (2008). Modelling stream fish species distribution in a river network: The relative effects of temperature versus physical factors. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 17(2), 244–257.
- Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2002). A practical information-theoretic approach. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference, 2, 70–71.
- Clare, J. D., Townsend, P. A., Anhalt-Depies, C., Locke, C., Stenglein, J. L., Frett, S., Martin, K. J., Singh, A., Van Deelen, T. R., & Zuckerberg, B. (2019). Making inference with messy (citizen science) data: When are data accurate enough and how can they be improved? *Ecological Applications*, 29(2), e01849.
- Collier, K. J., Pingram, M. A., Francis, L., Garrett-Walker, J., & Melchior, M. (2018). Trophic overlap between non-native brown bullhead (*Ameiurus nebulosus*) and native shortfin eel (*Anguilla australis*) in shallow lakes. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 27(4), 888–897. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12400
- Colpitts, G. W. (1997). In W. C. Mackay, M. K. Brewin, M. Monita, & Bull Trout Task Force (Eds.), *Friends of the bull trout conference proceedings*. Calgary: Bull Trout Task Force (Alberta).
- COSEWIC. (2012). COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Bull Trout Salvelinus confluentus in Canada.
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R. V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R. G., Sutton, P., & van den Belt, M. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature*, *387*(6630), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/387253a0

- Crisp, T. (2008). *Trout and salmon: Ecology, conservation and rehabilitation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Crozier, L. G., Hendry, A. P., Lawson, P. W., Quinn, T. P., Mantua, N. J., Battin, J., Shaw, R.
 G., & Huey, R. (2008). Potential responses to climate change in organisms with complex life histories: Evolution and plasticity in Pacific salmon. *Evolutionary Applications*, 1(2), 252–270.
- Cucherousset, J., Aymes, J. C., Santoul, F., & Céréghino, R. (2007). Stable isotope evidence of trophic interactions between introduced brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis and native brown trout Salmo trutta in a mountain stream of south-west France. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 71, 210–223. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01675.x
- Cucherousset, J., Závorka, L., Ponsard, S., Céréghino, R., & Santoul, F. (2020). Stable isotope niche convergence in coexisting native and non-native salmonids across age classes.
 Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 77(8), 1359–1365.
 https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2019-0186
- Cummins, K. W. (1962). An Evaluation of Some Techniques for the Collection and Analysis of Benthic Samples with Special Emphasis on Lotic Waters. *American Midland Naturalist*, 67(2), 477. https://doi.org/10.2307/2422722
- Donald, D. B. (1987). Assessment of the Outcome of Eight Decades of Trout Stocking in the Mountain National Parks, Canada. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 7(4), 545–553. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1987)7<545:AOTOOE>2.0.CO;2
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A. H., Gessner, M. O., Kawabata, Z.-I., Knowler, D. J., Lévêque, C., Naiman, R. J., Prieur-Richard, A.-H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M. L. J., & Sullivan, C. A.

(2006). Freshwater biodiversity: Importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. *Biological Reviews*, *81*(02), 163. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1464793105006950

- Dunham, J. B., Adams, S. B., Schroeter, R. E., & Novinger, D. C. (2002). Alien invasions in aquatic ecosystems: Toward an understanding of brook trout invasions and potential impacts on inland cutthroat trout in western North America. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 12(4), 373–391.
- Dunham, J. B., Rieman, B., & Chandler, G. (2003). Influences of Temperature and
 Environmental Variables on the Distribution of Bull Trout within Streams at the Southern
 Margin of Its Range. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 23(3), 894–904.
 https://doi.org/10.1577/M02-028
- Dunham, J., Baxter, C., Fausch, K. D., Fredenberg, W., Kitano, S., Koizumi, I., Morita, K.,
 Nakamura, T., Rieman, B., Savvaitova, K., Stanford, J., Taylor, E., & Yamamoto, S.
 (2008). Evolution, Ecology, and Conservation of Dolly Varden, White spotted Char, and
 Bull Trout. *Fisheries*, *33*(11), 537–550. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446-33.11.537
- Eby, L. A., Helmy, O., Holsinger, L. M., & Young, M. K. (2014). Evidence of Climate-Induced Range Contractions in Bull Trout Salvelinus confluentus in a Rocky Mountain Watershed, U.S.A. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6), e98812. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098812
- Eby, L. A., Roach, W., Crowder, L., & Stanford, J. (2006). Effects of stocking-up freshwater food webs. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(10), 576–584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.06.016

- Elliott, J. M. (1973). The food of brown and rainbow trout (Salmo trutta and S. gairdneri) in relation to the abundance of drifting invertebrates in a mountain stream. *Oecologia*, *12*(4), 329–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00345047
- Elliott, J. M. (1994). Quantitative ecology and the brown trout. Oxford University Press.
- Elmqvist, T., Folke, C., Nyström, M., Peterson, G., Bengtsson, J., Walker, B., & Norberg, J. (2003). Response diversity, ecosystem change, and resilience. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 1(9), 488–494.
- Esri Inc. (2021). ArcGIS Pro (2.9.1) [Computer software]. https://www.esri.com/enus/arcgis/products/arcgis-pro/overview
- Fagan, W. F. (2002). CONNECTIVITY, FRAGMENTATION, AND EXTINCTION RISK IN DENDRITIC METAPOPULATIONS. *Ecology*, 83(12), 3243–3249. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[3243:CFAERI]2.0.CO;2
- Fausch, K. D. (2008). A paradox of trout invasions in North America. *Biological Invasions*, 10(5), 685–701. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-007-9162-5
- Fausch, K. D., & Northcote, T. G. (1992). Large Woody Debris and Salmonid Habitat in a Small Coastal British Columbia Stream. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 49(4), 682–693. https://doi.org/10.1139/f92-077
- Fausch, K. D., & White, R. J. (1981). Competition Between Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and Brown Trout (*Salmo trutta*) for Positions in a Michigan Stream. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 38(10), 1220–1227. https://doi.org/10.1139/f81-164
- Field, R. D., & Reynolds, J. D. (2013). Ecological links between salmon, large carnivore predation, and scavenging birds. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 44(1), 009–016. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-048X.2012.05601.x

- Finlay, J. C. (2001). Stable-carbon-isotope ratios of river biota: Implications for energy flow in lotic food webs. *Ecology*, 82(4), 1052–1064.
- Fisheries and Oceans Canada. (2020). Recovery Strategy for the Bull Trout (Salvelinus confluentus), Saskatchewan-Nelson Rivers populations, in Canada [Final] (Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy Series.). Fisheries and Oceans Canada.
- Fiske, I., & Chandler, R. (2021). unmarked}: An {R} Package for Fitting Hierarchical Models of Wildlife Occurrence and Abundance (1.1.1) [Computer software]. https://www.jstatsoft.org/v43/i10/

Fry, B. (2006). Stable isotope ecology. (University of Alberta Internet Internet Access). Springer; University of Alberta Library. https://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp x?direct=true&db=cat03710a&AN=alb.6090275&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Fukui, S., Kasugai, K., Sawada, A., & Koizumi, I. (2021). Evidence for Introgressive
 Hybridization between Native Dolly Varden (Salvelinus curilus (syn. Salvelinus malma))
 and Introduced Brook Trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) in the Nishibetsu River of Hokkaido,
 Japan. Zoological Science, 38(3). https://doi.org/10.2108/zs200041
- Gallardo, B., Clavero, M., Sánchez, M. I., & Vilà, M. (2016). Global ecological impacts of invasive species in aquatic ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*, 22(1), 151–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13004
- Gelman, A., Carlin, J. B., Stern, H. S., & Rubin, D. B. (2014). *Bayesian data analysis (Vol. 2)*.Taylor & Francis Boca Raton.
- Gende, S. M., Edwards, R. T., Willson, M. F., & Wipfli, M. S. (2002). Pacific salmon in aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems: Pacific salmon subsidize freshwater and terrestrial ecosystems

through several pathways, which generates unique management and conservation issues but also provides valuable research opportunities. *BioScience*, *52*(10), 917–928.

- Gerig, B. S., Weber, D. N., Chaloner, D. T., McGill, L. M., & Lamberti, G. A. (2018).
 Interactive effects of introduced Pacific salmon and brown trout on native brook trout: An experimental and modeling approach. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 75(4), 538–548. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2016-0502
- Greeley, J. R. (1932). The Spawning Habits of Brook, Brown and Rainbow Trout, and the Problem of Egg Predators. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 62(1), 239– 248. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1932)62[239:TSHOBB]2.0.CO;2
- Gunckel, S. L., Hemmingsen, A. R., & Li, J. L. (2002). Effect of bull trout and brook trout interactions on foraging habitat, feeding behavior, and growth. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society (1900)*, 131(6), 1119–1130. PASCAL Archive. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2002)131<1119:EOBTAB>2.0.CO;2
- Haas, G. R., & McPhail, J. D. (1991). Systematics and Distributions of Dolly Varden (Salvelinus malma) and Bull Trout (Salvelinus confluentus) in North America. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 48(11), 2191–2211. https://doi.org/10.1139/f91-259
- Hammerschlag, N., Schmitz, O. J., Flecker, A. S., Lafferty, K. D., Sih, A., Atwood, T. B.,
 Gallagher, A. J., Irschick, D. J., Skubel, R., & Cooke, S. J. (2019). Ecosystem function and services of aquatic predators in the Anthropocene. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 34(4), 369–383.
- Hansen, A. G., Gardner, J. R., Connelly, K. A., Polacek, M., & Beauchamp, D. A. (2022).Resource use among top-level piscivores in a temperate reservoir: Implications for a

threatened coldwater specialist. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, *31*(3), 469–491. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12644

- Hari, R. E., Livingstone, D. M., Siber, R., Burkhardt-Holm, P., & Güttinger, H. (2006).
 Consequences of climatic change for water temperature and brown trout populations in
 Alpine rivers and streams: CLIMATE CHANGE, RIVER TEMPERATURES AND
 BROWN TROUT. *Global Change Biology*, *12*(1), 10–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001051.x
- Harvey, B. C., Nakamoto, R. J., & White, J. L. (1999). Influence of large woody debris and a bankfull flood on movement of adult resident coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki*) during fall and winter. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 56(11), 2161–2166. https://doi.org/10.1139/f99-154
- Hasegawa, K. (2017). Displacement of native white-spotted charr Salvelinus leucomaenis by non-native brown trout Salmo trutta after resolution of habitat fragmentation by a migration barrier: Native s. leucomaenis excluded by non-native s. trutta. Journal of Fish Biology, 90(6), 2475–2479. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13320
- Hasegawa, K., & Maekawa, K. (2006). The effects of introduced salmonids on two native stream-dwelling salmonids through interspecific competition. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 68(4), 1123–1132. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-1112.2006.00997.x
- Hasegawa, K., Yamamoto, T., Murakami, M., & Maekawa, K. (2004). Comparison of competitive ability between native and introduced salmonids: Evidence from pairwise contests. *Ichthyological Research*, *51*(3), 191–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10228-004-0214-x

Hayden, B. (2021). Atomic Ecology—Analyzing Stable Isotope Data. https://sites.google.com/view/brianhayden/teaching/analyzing-stable-isotope-data

- Hess, G. R. (1994). Conservation Corridors and Contagious Disease: A Cautionary Note. *Conservation Biology*, 8(1), 256–262. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1994.08010256.x
- Hill, A. M., & Lodge, D. M. (1999). Replacement of resident crayfishes by an exotic crayfish:The roles of competition and predation. *Ecological Applications*, 9(2), 678–690.
- Holbrook, S. J., & Schmitt, R. J. (1989). Resource Overlap, Prey Dynamics, and The Strength of Competition. *Ecology*, 70(6), 1943–1953. https://doi.org/10.2307/1938124
- Holtgrieve, G. W., & Schindler, D. E. (2011). Marine-derived nutrients, bioturbation, and ecosystem metabolism: Reconsidering the role of salmon in streams. *Ecology*, 92(2), 373–385. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1694.1
- Hubert, W. A., & Rhodes, H. A. (1989). Food selection by brook trout in a subalpine stream. *Hydrobiologia*, *178*(3), 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00006029
- Isaak, D. J., Young, M. K., Luce, C. H., Hostetler, S. W., Wenger, S. J., Peterson, E. E., Ver Hoef, J. M., Groce, M. C., Horan, D. L., & Nagel, D. E. (2016). Slow climate velocities of mountain streams portend their role as refugia for cold-water biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(16), 4374–4379. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1522429113

Isaak, D. J., Young, M. K., Nagel, D. E., Horan, D. L., & Groce, M. C. (2015). The cold-water climate shield: Delineating refugia for preserving salmonid fishes through the 21st century. *Global Change Biology*, 21(7), 2540–2553. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12879

- Jackson, A. L., Inger, R., Parnell, A. C., & Bearhop, S. (2011). Comparing isotopic niche widths among and within communities: SIBER–Stable Isotope Bayesian Ellipses in R. *Journal* of Animal Ecology, 80(3), 595–602.
- Jackson, M. C., & Britton, J. R. (2014). Divergence in the trophic niche of sympatric freshwater invaders. *Biological Invasions*, *16*(5), 1095–1103.
- Jardine, T. D., Kidd, K. A., & Rasmussen, J. B. (2012). Aquatic and terrestrial organic matter in the diet of stream consumers: Implications for mercury bioaccumulation. *Ecological Applications*, 22(3), 843–855. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-0874.1
- Jensen, H., Kiljunen, M., Knudsen, R., & Amundsen, P.-A. (2017). Resource Partitioning in Food, Space and Time between Arctic Charr (Salvelinus alpinus), Brown Trout (Salmo trutta) and European Whitefish (Coregonus lavaretus) at the Southern Edge of Their Continuous Coexistence. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0170582. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170582
- Jones, P., & Closs, G. (2017). The Introduction of Brown Trout to New Zealand and their Impact on Native Fish Communities. In J. Lobón-Cerviá & N. Sanz (Eds.), *Brown Trout* (pp. 545–567). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119268352.ch21
- Kanda, N., Leary, R. F., & Allendorf, F. W. (2002). Evidence of Introgressive Hybridization between Bull Trout and Brook Trout. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 131(4), 772–782. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2002)131<0772:EOIHBB>2.0.CO;2
- Keim, R. F., Skaugset, A. E., & Bateman, D. S. (2002). Physical Aquatic Habitat II. Pools and Cover Affected by Large Woody Debris in Three Western Oregon Streams. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 22(1), 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8675(2002)022<0151:PAHIPA>2.0.CO;2

- Keller, E. A., & Swanson, F. J. (1979). Effects of large organic material on channel form and fluvial processes. *Earth Surface Processes*, 4(4), 361–380. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.3290040406
- Kellner, K. (2021). JagsUI: A Wrapper Around "rjags" to Streamline "JAGS" Analyses (1.5.2) [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=jagsUI
- Kéry, M., & Royle, J. A. (2016). Modeling Abundance with Counts of Unmarked Individuals in Closed Populations. In *Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology* (pp. 219–312).
 Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801378-6.00006-0
- Kéry, M., & Royle, J. A. (2020). Applied hierarchical modeling in ecology: Analysis of distribution, abundance and species richness in R and BUGS: Volume 2: Dynamic and advanced models. Academic Press.
- Kéry, M., & Schaub, M. (2012). *Bayesian population analysis using WinBUGS: a hierarchical perspective*. Academic Press.
- Kiljunen, M., Grey, J., Sinisalo, T., Harrod, C., Immonen, H., & Jones, R. I. (2006). A revised model for lipid-normalizing δ13C values from aquatic organisms, with implications for isotope mixing models: Revised lipid-normalization model for C isotope analysis. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *43*(6), 1213–1222. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01224.x
- Kirk, M. A., Rosswog, A. N., Ressel, K. N., & Wissinger, S. A. (2018). Evaluating the Trade-Offs between Invasion and Isolation for Native Brook Trout and Nonnative Brown Trout in Pennsylvania Streams. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 147(5), 806– 817. https://doi.org/10.1002/tafs.10078

- Kitano, S. (2004). Ecological impacts of rainbow, brown and brook trout in Japanese inland waters. *GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH-ENGLISH EDITION-*, 8(1), 41–50.
- Kitano, S., Ohdachi, S., Koizumi, I., & Hasegawa, K. (2014). Hybridization between native white-spotted charr and nonnative brook trout in the upper Sorachi River, Hokkaido, Japan. *Ichthyological Research*, 61(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10228-013-0362-y
- Korsu, K., Huusko, A., & Muotka, T. (2007). Niche characteristics explain the reciprocal invasion success of stream salmonids in different continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(23), 9725–9729. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0610719104
- Kovach, R., Jonsson, B., Jonsson, N., Arismendi, I., Williams, J., Kershner, J., Al-Chokhachy,
 R., Letcher, B., & Muhlfeld, C. (2019). *Climate Change and the Future of Trout and Char* (pp. 685–716).
- Leary, R. F., Allendorf, F. W., & Forbes, S. H. (1993). Conservation Genetics of Bull Trout in the Columbia and Klamath River Drainages. *Conservation Biology*, 7(4), 856–865. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1993.740856.x
- Levine, J. M., & D'Antonio, C. M. (2003). Forecasting Biological Invasions with Increasing International Trade. *Conservation Biology*, 17(1), 322–326. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2003.02038.x
- Lobón-Cerviá, J., & Sanz, N. (2017). Brown trout: Biology, ecology and management.
- Logan, J. M., Jardine, T. D., Miller, T. J., Bunn, S. E., Cunjak, R. A., & Lutcavage, M. E. (2008). Lipid corrections in carbon and nitrogen stable isotope analyses: Comparison of chemical extraction and modelling methods. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 838–846.

- Lokteff, R. L., Roper, B. B., & Wheaton, J. M. (2013). Do Beaver Dams Impede the Movement of Trout? *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 142(4), 1114–1125. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2013.797497
- Lowe, S., Browne, M., Boudjelas, S., & De Poorter, M. (2000). 100 of the world's worst invasive alien species: A selection from the global invasive species database (Vol. 12). Invasive Species Specialist Group Auckland.
- Lysy, M., Stasko, A. D., & Swanson, H. K. (2021). NicheROVER: Niche Region and Niche Overlap Metrics for Multidimensional Ecological Niches (R package version 1.1.0) [Computer software].
- MacCrimmon, H. R., & Campbell, J. S. (1969). World Distribution of Brook Trout, Salvelinus fontinalis. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 26(7), 1699–1725. https://doi.org/10.1139/f69-159
- MacDonald, R. (2021). *West Fraser Stream Temperature Model Development*. MacDonald Hydrology Consultants.
- Mack, R. N., Simberloff, D., Mark Lonsdale, W., Evans, H., Clout, M., & Bazzaz, F. A. (2000).
 Biotic invasions: Causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. *Ecological Applications*, *10*(3), 689–710. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0689:BICEGC]2.0.CO;2
- Mannion, A. M. (1995). Biodiversity, Biotechnology, and Business. *Environmental Conservation*, 22(3), 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892900010596
- Mantyka-Pringle, C. S., Visconti, P., Di Marco, M., Martin, T. G., Rondinini, C., & Rhodes, J. R. (2015). Climate change modifies risk of global biodiversity loss due to land-cover

change. *Biological Conservation*, *187*, 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.04.016

- McCutchan, J. H. J., Lewis Jr, W. M., Kendall, C., & McGrath, C. C. (2003). Variation in trophic shift for stable isotope ratios of carbon, nitrogen, and sulfur. *Oikos*, 102(2), 378– 390.
- McDowall, R. M., Allibone, R. M., & Chadderton, W. L. (2001). Issues for the conservation and management of Falkland Islands freshwater fishes. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 11(6), 473–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.499
- McMahon, T. E., & Hartman, G. F. (1989). Influence of Cover Complexity and Current Velocity on Winter Habitat Use by Juvenile Coho Salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 46(9), 1551–1557.
 https://doi.org/10.1139/f89-197
- McMahon, T. E., Zale, A. V., Barrows, F. T., Selong, J. H., & Danehy, R. J. (2007).
 Temperature and Competition between Bull Trout and Brook Trout: A Test of the Elevation Refuge Hypothesis. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *136*(5), 1313–1326. https://doi.org/10.1577/T06-217.1
- McMeans, B. C., McCann, K. S., Humphries, M., Rooney, N., & Fisk, A. T. (2015). Food Web Structure in Temporally-Forced Ecosystems. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30(11), 662–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.09.001
- McPhail, J. D., & Baxter, J. S. (1996). *A review of bull trout (Salvelinus confluentus) life-history and habitat use in relation to compensation and improvement opportunities*. Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks.
- McRae, L., Deinet, S., & Freeman, R. (2017). The Diversity-Weighted Living Planet Index:
 Controlling for Taxonomic Bias in a Global Biodiversity Indicator. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0169156. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169156
- Meredith, C. S., Budy, P., Hooten, M. B., & Prates, M. O. (2017). Assessing conditions influencing the longitudinal distribution of exotic brown trout (Salmo trutta) in a mountain stream: A spatially-explicit modeling approach. *Biological Invasions*, 19(2), 503–519. https://doi.org/DOI:10.1007/s10530-016-1322-z
- Merritt, R. W., & Cummins, K. W. (1996). An introduction to the aquatic insects of North America. Kendall Hunt.
- Meyer, K. A., Lamansky, J. A., & Schill, D. J. (2006). Evaluation of an Unsuccessful Brook Trout Electrofishing Removal Project in a Small Rocky Mountain Stream. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 26(4), 849–860. https://doi.org/10.1577/M05-110.1
- Michel, V. T., Jiménez-Franco, M. V., Naef-Daenzer, B., & Grüebler, M. U. (2016). Intraguild predator drives forest edge avoidance of a mesopredator. *Ecosphere*, 7(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1229
- Miller, M. W., Pearlstine, E. V., Dorazio, R. M., & Mazzotti, F. J. (2011). Occupancy and abundance of wintering birds in a dynamic agricultural landscape. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 75(4), 836–847.
- Møller, A., & Jennions, M. D. (2002). How much variance can be explained by ecologists and evolutionary biologists? *Oecologia*, 132(4), 492–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-002-0952-2

- Moore, J. C., & Hunt, W. H. (1988). Resource compartmentation and the stability of real ecosystems. *Nature*, *333*(6170), 261–263.
- Moyle, P. B., & Light, T. (1996). Biological invasions of fresh water: Empirical rules and assembly theory. *Biological Conservation*, 78(1–2), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(96)00024-9
- Nakano, S., Fausch, K. D., & Kitano, S. (1999). Flexible niche partitioning via a foraging mode shift: A proposed mechanism for coexistence in stream-dwelling charrs. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 68(6), 1079–1092. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2656.1999.00355.x
- Nakano, S., Fausch, K. D., Tanaka, T., Maekawa, K., & Kawanabe, H. (1992). Resource utilization by bull char and cutthroat trout in a mountain stream in Montana, USA. *Japanese Journal of Ichthyology*, 39(3), 211–217.
- Nakano, S., & Furukawa-Tanaka, T. (1994). Intra- and interspecific dominance hierarchies and variation in foraging tactics of two species of stream-dwelling chars. *Ecological Research*, 9(1), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02347237
- Nakano, S., Kawaguchi, Y., Taniguchi, Y., Miyasaka, H., Shibata, Y., Urabe, H., & Kuhara, N. (1999). Selective foraging on terrestrial invertebrates by rainbow trout in a forested headwater stream in northern Japan: Terrestrial invertebrate feeding by fish. *Ecological Research*, 14(4), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1703.1999.00315.x
- Nakano, S., Kitano, S., Nakai, K., & Fausch, K. D. (1998). Competitive interactions for foraging microhabitat among introduced brook charr, Salvelinus fontinalis, and native bull charr, S. confluentus, and westslope cutthroat trout, Oncorhynchus clarki lewisi, in a Montana stream. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 52(1), 345–355.

- Newsome, S. D., Martinez del Rio, C., Bearhop, S., & Phillips, D. L. (2007). A niche for isotopic ecology. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 5(8), 429–436.
- Nyman, O. L. (1970). Ecological interaction of brown trout, Salmo trutta L., and brook trout, Salvelinus fontinalis(Mitchill), in a stream. *CAN FIELD-NATUR*. 84 (4): 343-350. *ILLUS. MAP. 1970*.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R.,
 O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., & Wagner, H.
 (2020). *vegan: Community Ecology Package* (2.5-7) [Computer software].
 https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Olsson, K., Stenroth, P., Nyström, P. E. R., & Granéli, W. (2009). Invasions and niche width: Does niche width of an introduced crayfish differ from a native crayfish? *Freshwater Biology*, 54(8), 1731–1740.
- Parkos III, J. J., Santucci, J., Victor J., & Wahl, D. H. (2003). Effects of adult common carp (Cyprinus carpio) on multiple trophic levels in shallow mesocosms. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 60(2), 182–192.
- Pascual, M. A., Cussac, V., Dyer, B., Soto, D., Vigliano, P., Ortubay, S., & Macchi, P. (2007).
 Freshwater fishes of Patagonia in the 21st Century after a hundred years of human settlement, species introductions, and environmental change. *Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management*, *10*(2), 212–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/14634980701351361
- Paul, A. J., & Post, J. R. (2001). Spatial Distribution of Native and Nonnative Salmonids in Streams of the Eastern Slopes of the Canadian Rocky Mountains. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 130(3), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2001)130<0417:SDONAN>2.0.CO;2

Pearsons, T. N., Li, H. W., & Lamberti, G. A. (1992). Influence of Habitat Complexity on Resistance to Flooding and Resilience of Stream Fish Assemblages. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *121*(4), 427–436. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1992)121<0427:IOHCOR>2.3.CO;2

- Perrings, C., Dehnen-Schmutz, K., Touza, J., & Williamson, M. (2005). How to manage biological invasions under globalization. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 20(5), 212–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.02.011
- Peterson, B. G., & Carl, P. (2020). *PerformanceAnalytics: Econometric Tools for Performance and Risk Analysis*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=PerformanceAnalytics
- Peterson, B. J., & Fry, B. (1987). Stable Isotopes in Ecosystem Studies. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 18(1), 293–320. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.18.110187.001453
- Peterson, D. P., & Fausch, K. D. (2003). Upstream movement by nonnative brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) promotes invasion of native cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki*) habitat. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 60(12), 1502–1516. https://doi.org/10.1139/f03-128
- Pimm, S. L., Russell, G. J., Gittleman, J. L., & Brooks, T. M. (1995). The Future of Biodiversity. *Science*, 269(5222), 347–350. JSTOR Journals.
- Pinnegar, J. K., & Polunin, N. V. C. (1999). Differential fractionation of δ13C and δ15N among fish tissues: Implications for the study of trophic interactions. *Functional Ecology*, *13*(2), 225–231.
- Plummer, M. (2017). *JAGS: A program for analysis of Bayesian graphical models using Gibbs sampling* (4.3.0) [Computer software]. https://mcmc-jags.sourceforge.io/

- Poesch, M. S., Chavarie, L., Chu, C., Pandit, S. N., & Tonn, W. (2016). Climate Change Impacts on Freshwater Fishes: A Canadian Perspective. *Fisheries*, 41(7), 385–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/03632415.2016.1180285
- Pörtner, H. O., & Farrell, A. P. (2008). Physiology and Climate Change. *Science*, 322(5902), 690–692. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1163156

Post, D. M. (2002). Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: Models, methods, and assumptions. *Ecology*, 83(3), 703–718. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[0703:USITET]2.0.CO;2

Post, D. M., Layman, C. A., Arrington, D. A., Takimoto, G., Quattrochi, J., & Montana, C. G. (2007). Getting to the fat of the matter: Models, methods and assumptions for dealing with lipids in stable isotope analyses. *Oecologia*, 152(1), 179–189.

Post, J. R., & Gow, J. L. (2012). COSEWIC assessment and status report on the bull trout, Salvelinus confluentus, south coast British Columbia populations, western Arctic populations, upper Yukon watershed populations, Saskatchewan—Nelson rivers populations, Pacific populations, in Canada. (MacEwan University - Internet Internet Access). COSEWIC = COSEPAC; University of Alberta Library. https://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp x?direct=true&db=cat03710a&AN=alb.6473515&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Rabeni, C. F., & Sowa, S. P. (1996). Integrating biological realism into habitat restoration and conservation strategies for small streams. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 53(S1), 252–259. https://doi.org/10.1139/96-259
- Raleigh, R. F. (1982). *Habitat suitability index models: Brook trout*. Western Energy and Land Use Team, Fish and Wildlife Service.

Ralph, S. C., Poole, G. C., Conquest, L. L., & Naiman, R. J. (1994). Stream Channel
Morphology and Woody Debris in Logged and Unlogged Basins of Western Washington. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 51(1), 37–51.
https://doi.org/10.1139/f94-006

Reid, A. J., Carlson, A. K., Creed, I. F., Eliason, E. J., Gell, P. A., Johnson, P. T. J., Kidd, K. A.,
MacCormack, T. J., Olden, J. D., Ormerod, S. J., Smol, J. P., Taylor, W. W., Tockner, K.,
Vermaire, J. C., Dudgeon, D., & Cooke, S. J. (2019). Emerging threats and persistent
conservation challenges for freshwater biodiversity. *Biological Reviews*, *94*(3), 849–873.
https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12480

- Reimchen, T. E. (2000). Some ecological and evolutionary aspects of bear-salmon interactions in coastal British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 78(3), 448–457. https://doi.org/10.1139/z99-232
- Ricciardi, A., & Rasmussen, J. B. (1999). Extinction Rates of North American Freshwater Fauna. *Conservation Biology*, 13(5), 1220–1222. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1999.98380.x
- Rich, C. F., McMahon, T. E., Rieman, B. E., & Thompson, W. L. (2003). Local-Habitat,
 Watershed, and Biotic Features Associated with Bull Trout Occurrence in Montana
 Streams. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *132*(6), 1053–1064.
 https://doi.org/10.1577/T02-109
- Rieman, B. E., Lee, D. C., & Thurow, R. F. (1997). Distribution, Status, and Likely Future Trends of Bull Trout within the Columbia River and Klamath River Basins. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, *17*(4), 1111–1125. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8675(1997)017<1111:DSALFT>2.3.CO;2

- Rieman, B. E., & McIntyre, J. D. (1995). Occurrence of Bull Trout in Naturally Fragmented Habitat Patches of Varied Size. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *124*(3), 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1995)124<0285:OOBTIN>2.3.CO;2
- Rieman, B. E., Peterson, J. T., & Myers, D. L. (2006). Have brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) displaced bull trout (Salvelinus confluentus) along longitudinal gradients in central Idaho streams? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences (Print)*, 63(1), 63–78.
 PASCAL Archive.
- Rodtka, M. C., & Volpe, J. P. (2007). Effects of Water Temperature on Interspecific Competition between Juvenile Bull Trout and Brook Trout in an Artificial Stream. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 136(6), 1714–1727. https://doi.org/10.1577/T05-311.1
- Rodtka, M., Post, J. R., & Johnston, F. D. (2009). *Status of the Bull Trout (Salvelinus confluentus) in Alberta: Update 2009.* Alberta Sustainable Resource Development.
- Rosales, J. (2008). Economic Growth, Climate Change, Biodiversity Loss: Distributive Justice for the Global North and South. *Conservation Biology*, 22(6), 1409–1417. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01091.x
- Rota, C. T., Ferreira, M. A. R., Kays, R. W., Forrester, T. D., Kalies, E. L., McShea, W. J., Parsons, A. W., & Millspaugh, J. J. (2016). A multispecies occupancy model for two or more interacting species. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(10), 1164–1173. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12587
- Roth, T., Bühler, C., & Amrhein, V. (2016). Estimating effects of species interactions on populations of endangered species. *The American Naturalist*, *187*(4), 457–467.
- Royle, J. A. (2004). N-mixture models for estimating population size from spatially replicated counts. *Biometrics*, *60*(1), 108–115.

- Royle, J. A., & Dorazio, R. M. (2008). *Hierarchical modeling and inference in ecology: The analysis of data from populations, metapopulations and communities.* Elsevier.
- RStudio Team. (2021). *RStudio: Integrated Development for R*. (2021.09.1) [Computer software]. PBC. http://www.rstudio.com/.
- Saffel, P. D., & Scarnecchia, D. L. (1994). Habitat use by juvenile bull trout in belt-series geology watersheds of northern Idaho. *Northwest Science.*, *69*(4), 304–317.
- Sakai, A. K., Allendorf, F. W., Holt, J. S., Lodge, D. M., Molofsky, J., With, K. A., Baughman,
 S., Cabin, R. J., Cohen, J. E., Ellstrand, N. C., McCauley, D. E., O'Neil, P., Parker, I. M.,
 Thompson, J. N., & Weller, S. G. (2001). The Population Biology of Invasive Species. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, *32*(1), 305–332.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.32.081501.114037
- Sala, O. E., Stuart Chapin, F., III, Armesto, J. J., Berlow, E., Bloomfield, J., Dirzo, R., Huber-Sanwald, E., Huenneke, L. F., Jackson, R. B., Kinzig, A., Leemans, R., Lodge, D. M., Mooney, H. A., Oesterheld, M., Poff, N. L., Sykes, M. T., Walker, B. H., Walker, M., & Wall, D. H. (2000). Global Biodiversity Scenarios for the Year 2100. *Science*, 287(5459), 1770. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5459.1770
- Sanderson, B. L., Tran, C. D., Coe, H. J., Pelekis, V., Steel, E. A., & Reichert, W. L. (2009).
 Nonlethal Sampling of Fish Caudal Fins Yields Valuable Stable Isotope Data for
 Threatened and Endangered Fishes. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 138(5), 1166–1177. https://doi.org/10.1577/T08-086.1
- Sawatzky, C. D., & Secretariat, C. S. A. (2016). Information in Support of a Recovery Potential Assessment of Bull Trout (Salvelinus Confluentus) (Saskatchewan-Nelson Rivers Populations) in Alberta. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ecosystems and Oceans Science.

- Schroeder, P. J., & Jenkins, D. G. (2018). How robust are popular beta diversity indices to sampling error? *Ecosphere*, *9*(2), e02100. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2100
- Selong, J. H., McMahon, T. E., Zale, A. V., & Barrows, F. T. (2001). Effect of Temperature on Growth and Survival of Bull Trout, with Application of an Improved Method for Determining Thermal Tolerance in Fishes. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *130*(6), 1026–1037. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2001)130<1026:EOTOGA>2.0.CO;2
- Simberloff, D., Farr, J. A., Cox, J., & Mehlman, D. W. (1992). Movement Corridors: Conservation Bargains or Poor Investments? *Conservation Biology*, 6(4), 493–504. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1992.06040493.x
- Singh, J. S. (2002). The biodiversity crisis: A multifaceted review. Current Science, 638-647.
- Sinnatamby, R. N., Cantin, A., & Post, J. R. (2020). Threats to at-risk salmonids of the Canadian Rocky Mountain region. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 29(3), 477–494. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12531
- Smialek, N., Pander, J., & Geist, J. (2021). Environmental threats and conservation implications for Atlantic salmon and brown trout during their critical freshwater phases of spawning, egg development and juvenile emergence. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 28(5), 437–467. https://doi.org/10.1111/fme.12507
- Som, N. A., Perry, R. W., Jones, E. C., De Juilio, K., Petros, P., Pinnix, W. D., & Rupert, D. L. (2018). N-mix for fish: Estimating riverine salmonid habitat selection via N-mixture models. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 75(7), 1048–1058. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2017-0027

- Stephens, D. W., & Krebs, J. R. (1987). Foraging Theory. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780691206790
- Stewart, D. B., Mochnacz, N., Sawatzky, C., Carmichael, T., & Reist, J. (2007). *Fish life history and habitat use in the Northwest Territories: Bull trout (Salvelinus confluentus)*.
- Strayer, D. L. (2010). Alien species in fresh waters: Ecological effects, interactions with other stressors, and prospects for the future. *Freshwater Biology*, 55, 152–174. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02380.x
- Svanbäck, R., Quevedo, M., Olsson, J., & Eklöv, P. (2015). Individuals in food webs: The relationships between trophic position, omnivory and among-individual diet variation. *Oecologia*, 178(1), 103–114.
- Swanson, H. K., Lysy, M., Power, M., Stasko, A. D., Johnson, J. D., & Reist, J. D. (2015). A new probabilistic method for quantifying *n* -dimensional ecological niches and niche overlap. *Ecology*, 96(2), 318–324. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0235.1
- Syväranta, J., Lensu, A., Marjomäki, T. J., Oksanen, S., & Jones, R. I. (2013). An empirical evaluation of the utility of convex hull and standard ellipse areas for assessing population niche widths from stable isotope data. *PloS One*, *8*(2), e56094.
- Takami, T., Yoshihara, T., Miyakoshi, Y., & Kuwabara, R. (2002). Replacement of whitespotted charr Salvelinus leucomaenis by brown trout Salmo trutta in a branch of the Chitose River, Hokkaido [Japan]. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries (Japan).
- Taniguchi, Y., Fausch, K. D., & Nakano, S. (2002). Size-structured Interactions between Native and Introduced Species: Can Intraguild Predation Facilitate Invasion by Stream

Salmonids? *Biological Invasions*, 4(3), 223–233.

- https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020915416559
- Townsend, C. R. (1996). Invasion biology and ecological impacts of brown trout Salmo trutta in New Zealand. *Biological Conservation*, 78(1–2), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(96)00014-6
- US Fish and Wildlife Service. (1999). Determination of threatened status for bull trout in the coterminous United States. *Federal Register*, 64(1), 58910–58933.
- Vander Zanden, M. J., Cabana, G., & Rasmussen, J. B. (1997). Comparing trophic position of freshwater fish calculated using stable nitrogen isotope ratios (δ¹⁵ N) and literature dietary data. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 54(5), 1142–1158. https://doi.org/10.1139/f97-016
- Warnock, W. G., & Rasmussen, J. B. (2013a). Abiotic and biotic factors associated with brook trout invasiveness into bull trout streams of the Canadian Rockies. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences (Print)*, 70(6), 905–914. PASCAL Archive. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2012-0387
- Warnock, W. G., & Rasmussen, J. B. (2013b). Assessing the effects of fish density, habitat complexity, and current velocity on interference competition between bull trout (Salvelinus confluentus) and brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) in an artificial stream. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *91*(9), 619–625. PASCAL Archive. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2013-0044
- Waters, T. F. (1983). Replacement of Brook Trout by Brown Trout over 15 Years in a Minnesota Stream: Production and Abundance. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*,

112(2A), 137-146. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-

8659(1983)112<137:ROBTBB>2.0.CO;2

- Watson, G., & Hillman, T. W. (1997). Factors Affecting the Distribution and Abundance of Bull Trout: An Investigation at Hierarchical Scales. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 17(2), 237–252. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8675(1997)017<0237:FATDAA>2.3.CO;2
- Welcomme, R. L. (1988). International introductions of inland aquatic species (Vol. 294). Food& Agriculture Org.
- Wenger, S. J., Isaak, D. J., Dunham, J. B., Fausch, K. D., Luce, C. H., Neville, H. M., Rieman,
 B. E., Young, M. K., Nagel, D. E., Horan, D. L., & Chandler, G. L. (2011). Role of
 climate and invasive species in structuring trout distributions in the interior Columbia
 River Basin, USA. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 68(6), 988–
 1008. https://doi.org/10.1139/f2011-034
- Wilson, M. K., Lowe, W. H., & Nislow, K. H. (2014). What predicts the use by brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) of terrestrial invertebrate subsidies in headwater streams? *Freshwater Biology*, 59(1), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12257
- Wood, J., & Budy, P. (2009). The Role of Environmental Factors in Determining Early Survival and Invasion Success of Exotic Brown Trout. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 138(4), 756–767. https://doi.org/10.1577/T08-123.1
- Youngson, A. F., Webb, J. H., Thompson, C. E., & Knox, D. (1993). Spawning of Escaped Farmed Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar): Hybridization of Females with Brown Trout (Salmo trutta). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 50(9), 1986–1990. https://doi.org/10.1139/f93-221

Zeug, S. C., & Winemiller, K. O. (2008). Evidence supporting the importance of terrestrial carbon in a large-river food web. *Ecology*, 89(6), 1733–1743. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1064.1

Appendices

Table A2.1 – Hypothesized relationships between habitat covariates and Bull Trout abundance denoted by positive (+) and negative (-) signs. Superscripts denote relationships we expected to be influenced by Brook Trout (K) and Brown Trout (N) presence.

Habitat Covariate	Hypothesis	Literature support
Elevation	+K,N	Paul & Post, 2001; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a; Al-Chokhachy et al., 2016; Wood & Budy, 2009
Distance to mainstem	_K	Rich et al., 2003; Wenger et al., 2011
Riparian area	+	McPhail & Baxter, 1996; Nakano et al. 1992
Disturbed area	-	McPhail & Baxter, 1996;
Timber area	-	McPhail & Baxter, 1996;
Mean August water temperature	_K,N	Selong et al., 2001; Paul & Post, 2001; Rieman et al., 2006; Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a; Al-Chokhachy et al., 2016
Wetted width	$+^{K,N}$	Rich et al., 2003; Bozek & Hubert, 1992;
Pool	+	Post & Gow, 2012; Bonneau and Scarnecchia 1998
Riffle	-	Bonneau and Scarnecchia 1998
Run	+	Bonneau and Scarnecchia 1998
Silt	-	Watson & Hillman, 1997
Sand	-	Watson & Hillman, 1997
Gravel	+	Watson & Hillman, 1997
Cobble	+ ^K	Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a; Watson & Hillman, 1997
Boulder	+ ^K	Warnock & Rasmussen, 2013a; Watson & Hillman, 1997
Bedrock	-	Watson & Hillman, 1997
Depth	$+^{N}$	Bonneau and Scarnecchia 1998; Heggenes, 1998
Large woody debris	$+^{K,N}$	Rich et al., 2003; Kirk et al., 2018;